

September 14~~24~~, 2012

**MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
SEATTLE SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT FACILITY**

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (“MOU”), dated this ____ day of _____, 2012 (“Effective Date”) is entered into among the following parties: The City of Seattle, a Washington municipal corporation (“City”), King County, a political subdivision of the State of Washington (“County”), and WSA Properties III, a Delaware limited liability company (“ArenaCo”). The City, the County and ArenaCo are referred to jointly as the “Parties.”

RECITALS

A. ArenaCo or its affiliate has acquired land (“Project Site”) south of downtown Seattle, Washington, adjacent to First Avenue South between South Massachusetts Street and South Holgate Street, on which it proposes to develop and operate a new multi-purpose sports and entertainment facility (“Arena”). The Arena will be designed to host a National Basketball Association (“NBA”) team (“NBA Team”) and a National Hockey League (“NHL”) team (“NHL Team”) and other events.

B. ArenaCo has approached the City and the County with a proposal for the two governments to participate in the development and ownership of the Arena on the Project Site.

C. An advisory panel (“Panel”) formed by the Mayor for the City and the King County Executive reviewed the ArenaCo proposal. The Panel conducted four public meetings and considered the comments and reports from experts and other members of the community. The Panel has recommended that the City and the County pursue development of the Arena and has identified a number of important issues that should be addressed in any agreements for the development and operation of the Arena.

D. This MOU is intended to be a binding and enforceable agreement of the Parties (a) establishing the process to be followed by the Parties in order to complete necessary reviews, including all environmental reviews, fulfill conditions precedent, and, as appropriate, approve the Transaction Documents (as defined below), and (b) setting forth the business terms and conditions that will be included in the Transaction Documents. It reflects the mutual understandings of the Parties regarding those actions, permits, approvals and/or agreements lawful and necessary to accomplish the location, financing, acquisition, design, development, construction, lease, management, operation, use and occupancy of the Arena (collectively, the “Project”). The Parties intend to actively participate and to work together collaboratively, in good faith and with due diligence, to carry out the process described herein and to negotiate the terms of the Transaction Documents consistent with this MOU. These undertakings are personal to the Parties and this MOU shall not be assigned to any other person or entity unless all Parties agree.

UNDERSTANDINGS

1. Purpose and Term of Agreement. This MOU sets forth the basic terms of proposed agreements among the Parties with respect to the Project, which terms will be memorialized in future agreements and other documents (“Transaction Documents”). The Arena will be designed to host an NBA Team and an NHL Team, and is expected to host other sporting events, family shows, concerts, graduations, and civic and other events. This Agreement will terminate upon the earlier of the effective date of the Umbrella Agreement (defined in paragraph 7)Section 7) or five (5) years from the Effective Date of this MOU.

~~**2. Location.** The Arena will be located on the Project Site, which is south of downtown Seattle.~~

2. Location. ArenaCo is proposing to develop and operate the Arena on the Project Site. In considering the City’s and County’s financial participation in the Project, the City and County will evaluate this location and one or more alternative sites, and a “no action” alternative as part of the SEPA review described in Section 5.

3. Description; Cost Reimbursement.

a. Description. The Arena will be designed and constructed with approximately 700,000 square feet of usable space and sufficient improvements to have a total approximate capacity of 19,000 attendees for concerts, 18,500 attendees for NBA games, and 17,500 attendees for NHL games. It is not currently possible to estimate the cost of the design, development, and construction of the Arena since the design is not complete and costs will be incurred in the future, and subject to unknown inflation in the costs of materials and labor. The Parties believe that construction and equipping of the Arena, including the cost of acquiring the Project Site, will be accomplished for an aggregate Project cost of approximately \$500 million. The Parties will work to agree upon Plans and Specifications for the Arena that, together with the Project Site acquisition costs, will result in a final Project cost in that approximate amount.

b. Cost Reimbursement. “Development Costs” means reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred by the City and County directly in connection with development, execution and performance of this MOU, the interlocal agreement between the City and the County, the Umbrella Agreement and Transaction Documents, and the transactions contemplated herein through the Commencement Date (defined in paragraphSection 9) including, but not limited to, all reasonable and documented expenses of engineers and legal, financial and other required consultants paid by the City or County (but excluding the expenses described in paragraphSection 4 and any financing or other costs paid out of bond proceeds) and including up to \$150,000 in costs and expenses actually incurred by the City to assess the future of uses of Key Arena or the Key Arena site. ArenaCo shall reimburse the City and County for all reasonable and documented Development Costs up to a maximum amount of \$5 million, with each payment being due within thirty (30) days following ArenaCo’s receipt of an invoice from the City and County as provided herein, with the first payment of any such reimbursable Development Costs to be billed by the City and County at least thirty (30) days prior to the Closing Date, and becoming due and payable on the Closing Date (defined in paragraphSection 8)). Following the Closing Date, any reimbursable Development Costs that become due and payable as provided in this paragraph 3.bSection 3,b through the Commencement Date will be billed by the City and County on a monthly basis and paid by ArenaCo within thirty (30) days

Field Cod

Field Cod

following receipt by ArenaCo of any invoice from the City and County. The reimbursement of Development Costs is in addition to expenses payable by ArenaCo in connection with ~~paragraph 4~~Section 4 below.

4. Initial Site Acquisition and Permitting. ArenaCo has acquired or will acquire the property that comprises the Project Site. At its sole cost and expense, ArenaCo will seek a master use permit and all other permits or approvals required for the Project, including but not limited to environmental review described in Section ~~5.5~~. At ArenaCo's expense, the City will provide dedicated planning staff to facilitate the review and processing of permit applications relating to the Project, with planning staff time to be billed at the then applicable rate schedules of the City.

5. SEPA. The Parties acknowledge that the Project is subject to review and potential mitigation under various laws, including the State Environmental Policy Act, Chapter 43.21C of the Revised Code of Washington ("RCW"), and the state and local implementing rules promulgated thereunder (collectively, "SEPA"). Before the City and County Councils consider approval of the Umbrella Agreement and any Transaction Documents, the City and County will complete a full SEPA review, including consideration of ~~one or more~~ alternative sites, a comprehensive traffic impact analysis, impacts to freight mobility, Port terminal operations, and identification of possible mitigating actions, such as improvements to freight mobility, and improved pedestrian connections between the Arena and the International District light rail station, the Stadium light rail station, the SODO light rail station, and Pioneer Square. The City and County anticipate that alternatives considered as part of the SEPA review will include a "no action" alternative and an alternative site at Seattle Center. The City or County may not take any "action" within the meaning of SEPA except as authorized by law, and nothing in this MOU is intended to limit the City's or County's exercise of substantive SEPA authority. Consistent with Section 44 of this MOU, ArenaCo will reimburse the City for the costs incurred by the City as part of the SEPA review and will be responsible for funding any required mitigation imposed through SEPA substantive authority.

6. Call for Bids. The City and County will make a call for bids for the Project. The call for bids will be made by publication in the *Puget Sound Daily Journal of Commerce* for two consecutive weeks before the date fixed for opening the bids as required by RCW 35.42.080.

7. Umbrella Agreement. If ArenaCo is the successful bidder for the Project, or if no bid is received on the call and the City and County determine to proceed with the Project without any further call for bids, then as soon as reasonably practicable the Parties intend to enter into a comprehensive agreement that will include the Transaction Documents in substantially final form as exhibits thereto (the "Umbrella Agreement"). The Umbrella Agreement will incorporate conditions precedent substantially in the form set forth in ~~paragraphs 21 and 22~~Sections 24 and 25 below, except to the extent that such conditions precedent shall have been met or waived at the time of the execution of the Umbrella Agreement.

8. Site Conveyance. Following execution of the Umbrella Agreement and satisfaction of the applicable conditions precedent, the City will fund the First Installment of the initial Public Financing, as defined and provided in ~~paragraph 10,~~Section 10, to purchase the Project Site from ArenaCo, and ArenaCo will sell and convey a fee simple interest in the Project

Site to the City by statutory warranty deed, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances other than “permitted exceptions” (as hereinafter defined) contained in title reports for the Project Site as of the Closing Date that are reasonably approved by the City. The date on which the City acquires the Project Site from ArenaCo is referred to in this MOU as the “Closing Date.” Permitted exceptions will be agreed to by the Parties no later than the end of the due diligence period under [paragraph 21.Section 24.c](#) below, subject to updating to account for the time period between the end of the due diligence period and the Closing Date. The purchase price for the Project Site will be paid by the City to ArenaCo in cash on the Closing Date. The purchase price will be the then fair market value of the Project Site, as permitted for construction of a facility for use as a multipurpose sports and entertainment arena, based on an appraisal by a mutually agreed-upon MAI- (Member of the Appraisal Institute) certified independent appraiser as of the date the master use permit is issued.

9. Ground Lease, Lease-Purchase Agreement and Arena Use Agreement. The City will ground lease the Project Site to ArenaCo for a period of at least 30 years (the “Ground Lease”), commencing on the Closing Date. The Ground Lease will require ArenaCo to pay ground rent in the amount of \$1 million annually, which annual rent will be paid by ArenaCo in equal semi-annual installments, and will be pro-rated for any partial year on a monthly basis. This annual Ground Lease rent obligation will terminate on the Commencement Date as defined below. Also on the Closing Date, the City and County will enter into an agreement (“Lease-Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which ArenaCo will construct the Arena building structure (“Arena Facility”) in accordance with the Design Standards as defined in [paragraphSection 16](#), for lease (with an option to purchase as described in this MOU) to the City and County. The term of the Lease-Purchase Agreement will be co-extensive with the original term of the Ground Lease and the payments to be made by the City and County under the Lease-Purchase Agreement will not exceed the prevailing rates for comparable space.

When the Arena Facility is ready for occupancy (“Commencement Date”), the City and County will commence paying rent, initially for a nominal amount, under the Lease-Purchase Agreement. The City and County will have the right to prepay or cause a trustee to prepay all or a portion of the principal component of all remaining lease payments required under the Lease-Purchase Agreement and will also have the right to exercise the option to purchase the Arena Facility at a price equal to the principal component of all remaining lease payments required under the Lease-Purchase Agreement, as those lease payments may be adjusted consistent with [paragraphSection 10](#) below. The date that title to the Arena Facility transfers to the City and County is referred to as the “Transfer Date.” The Transfer Date will occur on the day following the date when the Arena Facility is added to the property tax rolls or such later date, but not later than June 30th of the calendar year following the date the Arena Facility is added to the property tax rolls, as ArenaCo may request. ArenaCo will enter into a lease [or sublease](#) (the “Arena Use Agreement”) for the Arena Facility with the City and County or trustee on the Commencement Date.

On the Transfer Date, the City and County will pay ArenaCo an amount equal to the principal component of all lease payments due under the Lease-Purchase Agreement, as they may be adjusted, or if the City and County have appointed a trustee with respect to certificates of participation in lease payments, then the City and County will cause the trustee to pay to ArenaCo an amount equal to the principal component of all lease payments under the Lease-

Purchase Agreement. In either event, the City and County (or a trustee on behalf of the City and County) will purchase the Arena Facility from ArenaCo as provided in this MOU.

10. City-County Public Financing. The total amount to be paid to ArenaCo by the City and County for acquisition of the Project Site and the lease-purchase of the Arena Facility will be \$200 million; provided, however that the actual amount to be paid to ArenaCo will be subject to reduction as provided below. The structure of the Public Financing (as hereinafter defined) will be determined through a collaborative process among the City, the County and ArenaCo, recognizing that the Public Financing will be consistent with the City's and County's debt management policies, including policies related to debt capacity and risk profile. The "Public Financing" will include two installments of approximately thirty (30) year bonds or certificates of participation that have an effective cost of capital similar to general obligation bonds with debt service payments escalating from the Initial Principal Payment Date at a rate of 1% per annum for the first ten (10) years ~~of each installment (the "Public Financing"), and each installment and~~ will include consideration of: (i) financing obligations at market rates, including only usual and customary financing charges; (ii) utilizing tax-exempt debt; and (iii) utilizing various structuring techniques, including, but not limited to, non-callable bonds, premium bonds, refunding bonds, certificates of participation and discount bonds, as deemed appropriate by the City and County. ~~Alternative debt structures, including Bond Anticipation Notes, could be included in the Public Financing, subject to the agreement of the City, County and ArenaCo.~~ The City and the County, in their discretion, may later refinance such obligations to improve borrowing terms. Further, at ArenaCo's request, the City and County will consider refinancing such obligations if market conditions allow for improved borrowing terms, provided that ArenaCo reimburses the City and County for the reasonable and necessary costs of such refinancing. Any refinancing of the Public Financing will endeavor to lower debt service costs each year as opposed to redeeming bonds only in late maturity years.

The Parties anticipate that an NHL Team will be committed to play in the Arena after the date on which the NBA Team is acquired and committed to play in the Arena. ArenaCo anticipates that it will proceed with the Project and, if necessary, operate the Arena during the period between the acquisition of the NBA Team and the NHL Team. The Parties recognize that the value of the Arena to the City and the County will be greater upon the commitment of an NHL Team to play in the Arena. In connection with the foregoing, the Public Financing shall only be committed in accordance with the following installments:

(i) **First Installment:** On the Closing Date, in an amount equal to the fair market value of the Project Site (as determined and provided for in paragraphSection 8, but in no event to exceed \$100 million) paid to ArenaCo. ~~("First Installment").~~

(ii) **Second Installment:** On the Transfer Date, a second installment ("Second Installment") in an amount determined as follows: (a) if all of the conditions related to an NHL Team set forth in (b) of this subparagraphSection 10.(ii) have not been satisfied by the Transfer Date, an additional amount supported by the Base Rent and a stabilized level of Arena Tax Revenues that will be based on projections of future tax revenue that take into account long term variables such as team performance and economic conditions in a manner that will be provided in the Umbrella Agreement and Transaction Documents, up to \$145 million less the amount paid to ArenaCo in the First Installment, which Second Installment will be comprised of

Field Cod

funds (X) first paid to the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund, as described in Section 11, in an amount up to \$40 million to bring the ~~balance~~total amount deposited in the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund (considering only deposits of Arena ~~Revenue—Taxes~~Tax Revenues and Key Arena Taxes) to a total of \$40 million, and (Y) then paid to ArenaCo in an amount not to exceed a total of \$120 million, or (b) if by the Transfer Date an NHL Team license agreement committing the NHL Team to play its home games in the Arena has been executed, together with a non-relocation agreement as described in ~~paragraph 17~~Section 18 and any other necessary agreements with the City and the County related to the NHL Team, and the NHL has acknowledged the Arena Use Agreement and the non-relocation agreement and has approved locating the NHL Team in Seattle, an amount equal to \$200 million less the amount paid to ArenaCo in the First Installment, which will be comprised of funds (X) first paid to the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund in an amount up to \$40 million to bring the ~~balance of~~total amount deposited in the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund (considering only deposits of Arena Tax Revenue and Key Arena Taxes) to a total of \$40 million, and (Y) then the balance paid to ArenaCo.

11. SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund.

a. **Fund Established.** The City and County will establish a separate fund or account (“SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund”) to be managed in the sole discretion of the City and County, considering input from stakeholders affected by the Project, and used to fund transportation improvements in the area South of downtown Seattle. The SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund will give first priority to projects protecting the operations of the Port of Seattle, such as those serving Terminal 46, and improving freight mobility, and then to projects that improve pedestrian safety, enhance transit service and connectivity, and overall traffic management in the SODO area. Allocation among these priorities is to be determined by the City and County through interlocal agreement and approved by future ordinances. The City and County will seek other public and private partners and funding for the purposes of advancing the objectives of the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund, including but not limited to the Port of Seattle, the operators of Safeco Field and CenturyLink Field, and federal and state governments. The SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund will be used to fund system improvements to the transportation network in the SODO area, including the area within which the Project Site is located, but will not be utilized to fund any Project-specific transportation infrastructure mitigation required through the permitting and SEPA process for the Project. Further details related to the oversight and governance structure of the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund shall be delineated by future City ~~ordinance~~and County ordinances.

b. **Funding.** Before the Transfer Date, all Ground Lease rent payments and all Base Rent payments will be deposited into the Arena Revenue Account and used to make debt service payments on the Public Financing for the First Installment or when required by Section 13.c to make payments of the Annual Reimbursement Amount ~~(as defined in Section 13.e).~~. During this period, Arena Tax Revenues collected will be deposited into the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund, until such time, together with amounts deposited in the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund pursuant to Section ~~17.17~~b, a total of \$40 million has been deposited into the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund. If the total of all sums deposited from Arena Tax Revenues or Key Arena Taxes into the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund plus the amount deposited into the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund

from the proceeds of the Second Installment do not result in the total amount deposited into the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund being equal to \$40 million, then following funding and payment of the Second Installment, ArenaCo will deposit into the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund any additional amount required to bring the total of ~~all the~~ amounts from these four sources deposited into the SODO Infrastructure Fund to \$40 million in the aggregate. If the aggregate total amount of all sums actually deposited or that would otherwise be required to be deposited into the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund from Arena Tax Revenues or Key Arena Taxes as provided herein ever exceeds \$40 million, then any excess of any such amounts will be held in the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund until the Transfer Date and will be paid to ArenaCo on the Transfer Date as part of the principal component of lease payments due under the Lease-Purchase Agreement described in Section 9 and reduce the amount of the Second Installment.

12. Ownership of Arena Facility and Improvements. ArenaCo will install all tenant improvements and furnishings, including without limitation the seating, suite furnishings, offices, locker rooms, press areas, basketball floor, ice-making systems and equipment, dasher board systems, sound systems, scoreboards, ribbons, concession equipment, training equipment, and other items (“Arena Tenant Improvements”). For federal income tax purposes, ArenaCo will own all or a portion of those Arena Tenant Improvements, to be set forth in the Transaction Documents or in a schedule included in the Lease-Purchase Agreement or Arena Use Agreement, as applicable, which schedule may be amended from time to time by the mutual written agreement of the Parties. The initial Arena Tenant Improvements will be commensurate with the construction of a first-class arena as set forth in the Design Standards and Operating Standards. The Arena Tenant Improvements (but not any NBA Team- or NHL Team-owned equipment or fixtures) will become the property of the City and County upon the termination of the Arena Use Agreement without any further obligation on the part of the City or County. Upon termination of the Arena Use Agreement, ArenaCo will be obligated to surrender the Arena Facility and Arena Tenant Improvements to the City and County in a condition consistent with the program of capital repairs, replacements and improvements required pursuant to ~~paragraph~~ Section 14 and in a state of repair comparable to facilities of a similar age and suitable for continued uninterrupted use by NBA and NHL teams and as a major entertainment facility. Unless either the Put or Call Rights provided for in Section ~~13.(j)~~13.j or the "put" right provided for in Section ~~13.(g)(ii)~~13.g(ii).b are exercised and the sale and purchase of the Arena Facility, the Project Site and all of the Tenant Improvements ~~and Arena Site~~ are completed pursuant thereto as provided in either Section ~~13.j(i)~~13.j(i).13.j(ii) or ~~13.j(ii) of this MOU~~13.g(ii).b, the Arena Tenant Improvements will be surrendered by ArenaCo upon expiration of the term of the Arena Use Agreement, including any extensions thereof, and shall at the time of such surrender be unencumbered by liens or third party obligations.

13. Arena Use Agreement. The Arena Use Agreement will provide for the following terms:

a. Term. The initial term of the Arena Use Agreement will be at least thirty (30) years, but in no event shall the initial term be less than the maturity of any Public Financing obligations. The Arena Use Agreement will provide for four options of five (5) years each for ArenaCo to extend the term of the Arena Use Agreement. Subject to applicable law, the annual rental rate will be \$4 million during the first extension term. Beginning with the second

extension term, rent will increase by the change in the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers (Seattle-Tacoma-Bremerton Local Area) (“CPI”) –between the first and last years of the preceding extension period, if any. During each of the extension terms that are exercised by ArenaCo, the City and County will deposit 100% of all annual rent payments under the Arena Use Agreement into the City-County Capital Account defined in ~~paragraph 13.i(iv)~~Section 13.k(iv). Terms regarding Arena Tax Revenues will be negotiated by the Parties for any extension agreement. ArenaCo cannot exercise the option to extend the term of the Arena Use Agreement, unless the obligations of the NBA Team and (if applicable) the NHL Team to play at the Arena, including non-relocation agreements, are similarly extended.

b. ArenaCo Revenues. For the initial term of the Arena Use Agreement, ArenaCo will be entitled to all cash and in-kind revenues associated with the operation, use and enjoyment of the Arena (other than for any City-County Events, as hereinafter defined) (the “Arena Revenues”), subject to the payments and reserves required as described in this ~~paragraph~~Section 13, and not including any taxes, fees or charges ArenaCo may be obligated to collect and submit to a taxing or other government authority on behalf of others. Subject to the foregoing, Arena Revenues means all revenues, determined on a cash basis, of whatever kind or nature received or obtained by ArenaCo or a third-party, within the scope of ArenaCo’s authority or responsibility under the Umbrella Agreement or the Transaction Documents for the management, operation or maintenance of the Arena, in all cases subject to all revenues reserved to the NBA Team or the NHL Team pursuant to applicable license agreements as required by the NBA and NHL. Arena Revenues include, but are not limited to, box office fees (excluding ticket revenue for the NBA Team and NHL Team), facility fees, parking revenues, revenues from consumable and non-consumable concessions, all other licensing and rent revenues, forfeited security deposits, ticket commission and convenience fees, and other fees actually received by ArenaCo, for or from the following: (1) the use or operation of, or admission to, the Arena or any portion thereof, (2) all rents, royalties, and concession payments from tenants, concessionaires and licensees, (3) interest on or proceeds of investment of any accounts (except the Reserve Account and Capital Account, as described in ~~paragraphs 13.f(ii) and 14.a~~Sections 13.f(ii) and 14.a respectively), (4) rental or use of Arena equipment, (5) services rendered at or related to the Arena, (6) the amounts received from seat use charges and parking use fees, (7) the amounts generated from the use and operation of any Arena internet website and other similar media, (8) the right to sell, or the sale of permanent and ArenaCo temporary signage (but not temporary signage that is reserved or provided to the NBA Team and the NHL Team under their respective license agreements) and Arena sponsorships (including, without limitation, naming rights and founding partner sponsorships), (9) the non-ticket amounts generated from the sale or license of luxury suites and premium seating, and (10) club membership fees, but expressly excluding (notwithstanding the provisions above), in all events, sums received or collected by ArenaCo for and on behalf of and actually paid to a user of the Arena.

c. Rent Payments. Each year during the term of the Arena Use Agreement, ArenaCo will pay annual rent to the City and County in the amount of \$1 million (“Base Rent”) at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of the City’s first designated semi-annual debt service payment for the Public Financing. In addition, ~~commencing beginning upon the sooner of the Transfer Date or the fourth anniversary of the First Installment and~~ at least thirty (30) days prior to the ~~date of the City’s second designated semi-annual debt service payment for the Public~~

Financing Initial Principal Payment Date (as defined below) and during each year of the Arena Use Agreement, ArenaCo will pay the City and County the amount (the "Additional Rent") that is sufficient, when combined with Base Rent and Arena Tax Revenues (described below) received by the City and County for use in that year, to equal the Annual Reimbursement Amount. "Annual Reimbursement Amount" means the total annual debt service obligations of the City and County for the Public Financing. The City's Initial Principal Payment Date is the earlier of (i) the first subsequent date after the Transfer Date on which principal and interest is to be paid, or (ii) the first scheduled debt service payment date on which both principal and interest are due after the fourth anniversary of the First Installment. A schedule of the estimated Annual Reimbursement Amount will be prepared as an attachment to the Transaction Documents and will be updated and delivered to ArenaCo on the Closing Date and further updated on the Transfer Date.

d. Arena Tax Revenues. "Arena Tax Revenues" means the dollar amount of: (i) all sales tax (including all construction sales tax), incremental property tax, all leasehold excise tax, and all admission tax revenues attributable to the Arena and Arena Tenant Improvements, as well as other tax revenues attributable to the Arena and Arena Tenant Improvements that have been received by the City or the County on and from the Project Site and Arena, and from all uses and activities conducted thereon, except for City utility taxes and those tax revenues that are subject to legal restrictions that preclude their use either for payment of Arena-related debt or expenses hereunder (other than parking taxes attributable by contract to the Arena) plus (ii) City business tax revenues imposed under Chapter 5.45 SMC or any successor provision that the City has reasonably determined it received from ArenaCo and from other business activities engaged in, at, or from the Arena (including without limitation revenues from the business activities that have a substantial nexus with the City). In the event the City or the County issue tax-exempt bonds in connection with the Public Financing, then the underlying tax stream identified by the City or County as the source for paying debt service on such bonds shall be excluded from the definition of "Arena Tax Revenues."

e. [Intentionally Left Blank].

f. Security for Rent. ArenaCo will secure payment of Base Rent and Additional Rent as described in subparagraphs Sections 13.f through 13.h, f through 13h.

(i) Coverage Ratio. ArenaCo will be required to certify annually whether the Net Arena Revenues for the preceding fiscal year at fiscal yearend are equal to at least two times (2.0x) the Annual Reimbursement Amount for the following year in which debt service is paid (the "Coverage Ratio"). ArenaCo's annual certification must be accompanied by certification from an independent certified public accountant as to the accuracy of the financial information underlying the Coverage Ratio or alternative evidence from ArenaCo reasonably acceptable to the City and County as to the reliability of ArenaCo's certification. ArenaCo will pay the cost of acquiring such a certification and the City and County will be entitled to approve the selection of any third party involved in the certification, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld. "Net Arena Revenues" means the Arena Revenues less Arena Operating Expenses. ArenaCo will, on a date set forth in the Transaction Documents to be no later than 90 days after the end of the prior fiscal year, provide the City and County with an annual accounting to support certification and any reasonably requested documentation to confirm the Coverage

Ratio. If Net Arena Revenues are insufficient and fail to meet the Coverage Ratio (a "shortfall"), ArenaCo shall promptly (and in no event later than 30 days after the certification is provided to the City and County or 30 days after an annual accounting is provided ~~to~~and the City and County determine a shortfall exists based on the annual accounting) increase the Reserve Account balance by an amount such that (A) the balance of the Reserve Account equals at least 2.0x the following fiscal year's Annual Reimbursement Amount, and (B) the increased Reserve Account balance plus Net Arena Revenues equals at least three times (3.0x) the following year's Annual Reimbursement Amount. If (X) for 24 consecutive months after such increase in the Reserve Account is made by ArenaCo, no funds are withdrawn from the Reserve Account to make any other payments, then the balance required to be maintained in the Reserve Account will be reduced to an amount that, together with Net Arena Revenues for the prior fiscal year, will equal the three times (3.0x) the following fiscal year's Annual Reimbursement Amount, or (Y) for 12 consecutive months after such increase in the Reserve Account is made by ArenaCo no funds are withdrawn from the Reserve Account and the balance maintained in the Reserve Account together with Net Arena Revenues for the prior fiscal year equals at least four times (4.0x) the following fiscal year's Annual Reimbursement Amount, then the balance required to be maintained in the Reserve Account will be reduced to 1.0x the following year's Annual Reimbursement Amount. In no event will the amount held in the Reserve Account in any fiscal year be less than the Annual Reimbursement Amount for the following fiscal year.

(ii) Reserve Account. As collateral, ArenaCo will fund an account at a financial institution reasonably acceptable to the City and County (the "Reserve Account"). The Reserve Account shall be held in trust for the benefit of the City and County as provided in this MOU, the Umbrella Agreement and the applicable Transaction Documents, and will be governed/managed in accordance with an "account control agreement" to be included among the Transaction Documents, the terms of which control agreement – which will include a grant to the City and County of a first lien and first priority security interest in the Reserve Account -- and all moneys or securities held in the Reserve Account. The terms of the account control agreement or other security agreement will be consistent with this MOU and mutually agreed upon in good faith by ArenaCo, and the City and County. The initial deposit into the Reserve Account will be due on the Closing Date and will equal the Annual Reimbursement Amount for the following fiscal year for the City and County. Thereafter, ArenaCo will make annual deposits into the Reserve Account by June 1 of each year during the term of the Arena Use Agreement that will cause the balance to equal the then next year's actual Annual Reimbursement Amount. All money held in the Reserve Account shall only be invested pursuant to the terms of the account control agreement and such money shall only be invested in investments reasonably acceptable to the City and County. To the extent that the Annual Reimbursement Amount declines due to a restructuring, principal pay-down, or other reduction of the debt service for the Public Financing, then the amount to be held in the Reserve Account will be similarly reduced (provided that the Coverage Ratio is still maintained).

(iii) Withdrawals and Replenishing Deposit. If the City or County draws on the Reserve Account or if the value of securities held in the Reserve Account decreases and the balance in the Reserve Account is less than the Annual Reimbursement Amount for the following year, ArenaCo will replenish the Reserve Account within 30 days.

g. Payment Default; First Priority Payment Position; Lien; Parent Guaranty

(i) Payment Default; First Priority Payment; Lien. If ArenaCo fails to pay all or any portion of the Base Rent or Additional Rent when due or to make any required deposit into the Reserve Account or the Capital Account when required, then the City and County may draw on the Reserve Account. The City's and County's right to receive required payments of Base Rent and Additional Rent and ArenaCo's obligation to fund the Reserve Account and the Capital Account will have a first-priority payment position on all revenue and receivables of ArenaCo. As the payment obligations of ArenaCo to the City and County hereunder constitute operating expenses, (e.g., including but not limited to rent) such payment obligations will be senior to all debt service payments on any Arena-related financing and intercompany debt. The City's and County's right to receive the required payments of Base Rent and Additional Rent as well as the amounts in the Reserve Account and the Capital Account will be secured by a lien on and security interest in revenues and receivables of ArenaCo. Such lien and its priority shall be agreed upon by lenders to ArenaCo, the City and County and shall be set forth in the, Transaction Documents and the Intercreditor Agreement described in ~~section 13.i~~Section 13.i below, and further secured as provided in ~~subsection 13.g.(ii)~~Section 13.g.(ii) and ~~(iii)~~(iii) below. In the event of a "Payment Default", which for the purposes of this MOU will be defined as ArenaCo's failure to replenish the Reserve Account or to increase the deposits therein to the required amount within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice from the City and County of any draw on the Reserve Account or confirmation of insufficient coverage amount, the City and County may exercise any and all remedies at law or equity or under or pursuant to this MOU, the Umbrella Agreement and the Transaction Documents.

(ii) Guarantees.

(a) Parent Guaranty. Except as provided below in this Section, ArenaCo hereby agrees that the direct equity owner of ArenaCo ("ArenaCo Parent") will also be the direct equity owner of the entity that owns and operates the NBA Team unless there is a sale, transfer or assignment in accordance with ~~paragraph~~Section 23.e.(iii)c. In addition to the security provided for in ~~paragraph 12.f.(i)~~Section 13.f(i) above, ArenaCo shall deliver, on the Transfer Date, an unsecured and unconditional guaranty of ArenaCo Parent (the form of which shall be included in the Transaction Documents) unconditionally guaranteeing ArenaCo's obligations under the Arena Use Agreement, as well as the obligations of the NBA Team under the NBA Team's non-relocation agreement defined in ~~Section 22.d~~Section 18 of this MOU (each such guaranty a "Parent Guaranty"). If any other entity is an equity owner of more than a ten percent (10%) equity interest in ArenaCo as of the date of the Transaction Documents or later acquires such an ownership interest in ArenaCo (individually an "Other ArenaCo Parent Entity" or collectively "Other ArenaCo Parent Entities"), then such Other ArenaCo Parent Entity shall be deemed an ArenaCo Parent for purpose of this Section 13.g.(ii) and shall be required to provide a Parent Guaranty; provided, however, that in such event the Parent Guaranty provided by ArenaCo Parent and the Parent Guaranty provided by any such Other ArenaCo Parent Entities shall provide that the obligations guaranteed by each such entity under their respective Parent Guaranty will be pro rata, based upon each of their respective equity interests in ArenaCo, rather than joint and several. In addition, if such Other ArenaCo Parent Entity is also the owner of the NHL Team, then such Other ArenaCo Parent Guaranty shall also guarantee the obligations of the

NHL Team under the NHL Team's non-relocation agreement defined in Section ~~18~~18 of this MOU.

(b) **Personal Guaranty.** In addition to delivery of the Parent Guaranty, on the Closing Date ArenaCo shall also deliver or cause to be delivered an unsecured, personal guaranty ("Personal Guaranty") of Chris Hansen ("Personal Guarantor") guaranteeing the obligations that are to be personally guaranteed as expressly provided for in this Section ~~13.g.(ii)(b)~~13.g.(ii)(b). The Personal Guaranty will provide that the Personal Guarantor will guaranty the following obligations ("Personal Guaranty Obligations"):

(1) the Repayment Obligation set forth in Section ~~16.a.(ii)~~1.a(ii); and

(2) until the first to occur of (a) the termination or release of ArenaCo Parent's obligation under the Parent Guaranty to guaranty the payment obligations of ArenaCo to make the payments of the Annual Reimbursement Amount to the City and County pursuant to the Use Agreement, or (b) the Public Financing has been fully repaid or defeased, or (c) expiration of the "Remedy Period" of the Personal Guaranty as hereinafter defined, if and to the extent a Payment Default exists as set forth in Section ~~13.g.(i)~~13.g.(i) and (x) if ArenaCo fails to make any required payment of the Annual Reimbursement Amount as and when due and payable as provided herein and in the Use Agreement and subsequently fails to replenish the Reserve Account as required herein and in the Use Agreement, and (y) Parent Guarantor fails to satisfy its obligations to make the required payment of the Annual Reimbursement Amount and to replenish the Reserve Account under the Personal Guaranty, then Personal Guarantor (or, if applicable, Successor Personal Guarantor(s), as hereinafter defined) shall personally guarantee and make payment as and when ~~they~~the payments become due of the difference between any such Annual Reimbursement Amounts and any sums paid to or received by the City and County in payment of any such Annual Reimbursement Amounts from any sources, including from any amounts remaining in the Reserve Account or sums or amounts thereafter deposited into the Reserve Account by ArenaCo or any Parent Guarantor.

In connection with the Personal Guaranty, the Personal Guarantor or any Successor Personal Guarantor(s) shall provide certification from an independent certified public accountant that Personal Guarantor's or such Successor Personal Guarantor(s)' net worth is no less than \$300 million ("Minimum Net Worth"). Such certification shall be made upon the reasonable request of the City and County, but in no event shall such certification be required to be made more frequently than annually. Any such certification shall be paid for as an operating expense of ArenaCo. If any such certification shows that the Personal Guarantor's or any Successor Personal Guarantor(s)' net worth is less than the Minimum Net Worth, then the Personal Guarantor or such Successor Personal Guarantor(s) shall be required to provide a nonrecourse letter of credit for the benefit of the City and County in an amount equal to 2.0x the then current year's Annual Reimbursement Amount until such time as such a certification is provided that shows that such Personal Guarantor's or successor owner(s)' Minimum Net Worth is no less than \$300 Million. In approving any future sale, assignment or transfer of interest as provided in Section ~~23.(c)(ii)~~23.(c)(ii) of this MOU, the City and County must be reasonably satisfied with a comparable Personal Guaranty from any successor majority or plurality owner(s) of any purchaser, assignee or transferee ("Successor Personal Guarantor(s)").

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the obligations of Personal Guarantor or any Successor Personal Guarantor under the Personal Guaranty will only require Personal Guarantor or any Successor Personal Guarantor to guaranty and make payment of any shortfall in any payments of Annual Reimbursement Amounts during the Remedy Period as provided above as and when such Annual Reimbursement Amounts would otherwise have become due absent a Payment Default as provided in this MOU. The obligations of Personal Guarantor or any Successor Personal Guarantor(s) under the Personal Guaranty will continue only for a period of up to five (5) years (the “Remedy Period”) from the date on which Personal Guarantor makes the first payment of the shortfall in any Annual Reimbursement Amount required under the Personal Guaranty, and will apply only to any shortfall in any Annual Reimbursement Amounts as and when the same would otherwise have become due during the Remedy Period as provided herein. During the Remedy Period, the City and County may, but shall not be obligated to, continue to pursue their remedies against ArenaCo and Parent Guarantor (and, if applicable, any Other ArenaCo Parent Entities) resulting from such Payment Default and default by any Parent Guarantor under the Parent Guaranty as provided for herein, and in the Use Agreement, the Parent Guaranty, and in any of the other Transaction Documents.

Any payments made by Personal Guarantor or any Successor Personal Guarantor(s) under the Personal Guaranty provided for in this Section ~~13.g.(ii)~~13.g.(ii).(b) will be considered to be and will be treated as recoupable advances by Personal Guarantor or Successor Personal Guarantor(s), and will be added to and included in any claims made or remedies that may be sought by the City and County against or from ArenaCo, Parent Guarantor and, if applicable any Other ArenaCo Parent Entities. In the event the City and County recoup, receive or collect amounts, whether from ArenaCo, Parent Guarantor, any Other ArenaCo Parent Entity, the NBA Team, NHL Team, or their respective successors, transferees, assigns, bankruptcy estates or trustees or administrators, sufficient to satisfy all damages incurred by the City and County as the result of the payment defaults plus all amounts necessary to satisfy all the obligations of the City and County under the Public Financing (the “Recoupment Amounts”), then, to the extent the City and County recoup amounts in excess of the Recoupment Amounts, the City and will repay and reimburse to Personal Guarantor or Successor Personal Guarantor(s), as applicable, any amounts so collected and received by the City and County, until such time as Personal Guarantor or any such Successor Personal Guarantor(s) have been reimbursed and repaid in full for any amounts previously paid and advanced to the City and County under the Personal Guaranty as provided for in this Section ~~13.g.(ii)~~13.g.(ii).(b), less all reasonable expenses incurred by the City and County in the recoupment of the Recoupment Amounts (including reasonable attorney’s fees). Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is expressly understood and agreed that any amounts paid and advanced to the City and County under the Personal Guaranty are recoupable by Personal Guarantor or any Successor Personal Guarantor(s) only if and to the extent that the City and/or County collect or receive payment or reimbursement of such amounts as provided herein, and the City and County will otherwise have no obligation to repay or reimburse any such payments or advances to Personal Guarantor or any Successor Personal Guarantor(s).

In addition to and without limiting the foregoing, in the event of a sale of the NBA Team following a Payment Default by ArenaCo and the receipt by City and County of any proceeds from any such sale of the NBA Team as provided in Section ~~13.g.(iii)~~13.g.(ii) below, if all of the obligations due to the City and County under the Public Financing have not been

previously fully repaid or fully defeased, or are not fully repaid or fully defeased from any such proceeds received by the City and County, then until either 120 days following receipt by the City and County of the proceeds from the sale of the NBA Team as provided in Section ~~13.g~~ ~~(iii)~~13.g.(iii) below, or if the NBA Team is sold as provided in Section ~~13.g~~ ~~(iii)~~13.g.(iii) below but the City and County are not entitled to receive any proceeds from such sale, then 180 days following the date on which such sale of the NBA Team is completed, the City and County will have the right, but not the obligation, under the Use Agreement to "put" the Arena Facility, all the City's and County's rights in or to the Arena Tenant Improvements, the Project Site and all of the City's and County's rights under the Arena Use Agreement to Personal Guarantor or, if applicable, any Successor Personal Guarantor(s), and Personal Guarantor or such Successor Personal Guarantor(s) will have the obligation to purchase and acquire all of the same from the City and County, for a purchase price equal to (a) any then remaining unpaid or undefeased obligations of the Public Financing that have not been previously paid or defeased from all sources, including by application of any proceeds received or to be received by the City and County from or in connection with the exercise of any of their rights and remedies, including, but not limited to, such a sale of the NBA Team, plus (b) any legal fees and costs and City and County staff billable hours and costs actually paid or incurred by the City and County directly in connection with collecting any amounts due from Personal Guarantor or any Successor Personal Guarantor(s) under the Personal Guaranty. In the event that the City and County do not exercise this put right within the applicable time period provided for above, then this put right and all obligations of Personal Guarantor and any Successor Personal Guarantor(s) relating to this put right under the Personal Guaranty will terminate and be of no further force or effect.

(iii) First Right to Distributions. Further, to satisfy any default in (A) ArenaCo's obligations under the Arena Use Agreement and (B) the NBA Team's obligations under the non-relocation agreement required by ~~paragraph 21.d,~~Section 18, the City and County will also be entitled to receive the first distributions of any proceeds from any sale of the NBA Team, subject only to repayment of any obligations of the NBA Team related to any debt of the NBA Team to the NBA or other lenders approved by the NBA that are secured by the NBA franchise and other assets of the NBA Team up to the \$125 million cap plus the amount of Public Financing used to fund the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund in the Second Installment up to an additional \$25 million on such debt currently allowed under applicable NBA rules ("NBA Team Secured Debt Obligations"). The total NBA Team Secured Debt Obligations shall not exceed \$150 million. ArenaCo Parent shall covenant not to enter into any agreement that would interfere with City's and County's rights to receive distributions of the proceeds of sale of the NBA Team payable to City and County as and when provided for in this MOU, and the NBA Team shall covenant not to enter into any agreement granting any lien, security interest or other encumbrance on the NBA Team's assets in excess of the NBA Team Secured Obligations. The Parties also agree to explore further ways to secure the obligations of ArenaCo, ArenaCo Parent and the NBA Team subject to NBA requirements, rules, regulations and agreements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, if the NBA revises its rules to allow NBA teams to borrow in excess of the current limit of \$150 million that may be secured by the NBA franchise and other assets of NBA teams, then the NBA Team will be entitled to increase the amount of the NBA Team Secured Debt Obligations; provided, however, that the NBA Team will limit the amount of the NBA Team Secured Debt Obligations that will be senior to the right of the City and County to receive distributions of any proceeds from any sale of the NBA Team to the lesser of: (A) the maximum amount of NBA Team Secured Debt Obligations that is then allowed under

NBA rules, or (B) 40% of the then "fair market value" ("FMV") of the NBA Team. The FMV of the NBA Team will be as mutually agreed upon in good faith by the Parties at that time; provided, however that if the Parties are unable to agree upon the FMV of the NBA Team at that time, then the FMV of the NBA Team will be determined by a sports industry recognized appraiser with experience in valuing NBA teams selected by the mutual agreement of the Parties pursuant to a customary valuation process to be specified in the Umbrella Agreement; but provided further, however, that if the NBA Team Secured Debt increase of the NBA Team is being sought in connection with the acquisition of the NBA Team on an arm's-length basis by an unrelated party, then the FMV will be equal to the actual all-in acquisition price of the NBA Team.

h. Special Purpose Entity; Insolvency. ArenaCo and ArenaCo Parent shall be established as bankruptcy remote special purpose entities, with one or more independent managers or directors (as applicable) that would have to approve any bankruptcy filing. ArenaCo shall contribute a minimum of \$100 million in equity towards construction of the Arena. If ArenaCo is determined to be bankrupt or insolvent as defined in the Umbrella Agreement or the Transaction Documents; if any receiver, trustee or other similar official of all or any part of the business of ArenaCo is appointed and is not discharged within 60 days after appointment; if ArenaCo makes any general assignment of its property for the benefit of creditors; if ArenaCo files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or a state court receivership proceeding, or applies for reorganization or arrangement with its creditors, under federal, state or other laws now in force or hereafter enacted; if an involuntary petition of bankruptcy or insolvency is filed against ArenaCo and is not dismissed within 60 days after the filing; and if ArenaCo is in Payment Default then the City and County, at their election and unless prohibited by law may (i) first - draw on the Reserve Account, and (ii) then - foreclose on their security interests in the revenues and receivables from ArenaCo or the Arena, and/or (iii) replace ArenaCo as operator of the Arena, and/or (iv) terminate the Umbrella Agreement and the Arena Use Agreement. These remedies are not exclusive and will be in addition to all other remedies available to the City and County. The provisions of this ~~subsection~~Section are in addition to and not instead of or dependent upon the remedies set forth in ~~subsection 13.g~~Section 13.g or elsewhere in this MOU.

i. Intercreditor Agreement. The Parties acknowledge that the Transaction Documents shall include an intercreditor agreement between the City and County and ArenaCo's lenders ("Intercreditor Agreement") which shall be in the form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the City and County and ArenaCo's lenders. For the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, the Intercreditor Agreement shall include provisions addressing removal of Arena Tenant Improvements as a remedy, identifying which party to the Intercreditor Agreement will be the controlling party or parties to direct remedies upon the occurrence of any Payment Default, other limitations and timing of remedies for all parties.

j. Put and Call Options.

(i) Put Option. Upon expiration of the Arena Use Agreement term (including any extensions exercised by ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns), the City and County will have the right (the "Put Option") to require ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns under the Arena Use Agreement to purchase from

the City and County all of the City and County's right, title and interest in or to the Arena Facility, the Project Site and all of the Arena Tenant Improvements for a purchase price in the amount of \$200 Million; provided, however, that in order to exercise such right, the City and County must provide ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns with written notice of such election within 180 days following the end of the term of the Arena Use Agreement (including any extensions exercised by ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns).

(ii) Call Option. In addition to the Put Option, at the end of the Arena Use Agreement term (including any extensions exercised by ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns), ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns under the Arena Use Agreement will have the right (the "Call Option") to require the City and County to sell to ArenaCo or its designees, approved successors and assigns, all of the City's and County's right, title and interest in or to the Arena Facility, the Project Site and all of the Arena Tenant Improvements for a purchase price equal to the greater of (a) the amount of the First Installment, as increased on an annual basis by CPI, or (b) \$200 Million; provided, however, that in order to exercise such right, ArenaCo must provide the City and County or their designees or approved successors and assigns with written notice of such election within 180 days following the end of the term of the Arena Use Agreement (including any extensions exercised by ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns). If ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns under the Arena Use Agreement exercises the foregoing Call Option, such purchasing party shall be obligated to build a substantially similar new arena on the Project Site, in the sole discretion of the City ~~in consultation with the~~ and County.

(iii) Demolition and Removal. If ArenaCo does not exercise the foregoing call option and the City and County do not exercise the foregoing put option, then at the end of the term of the Arena Use Agreement (including any extensions exercised by ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns), if neither the NBA Team nor NHL Team agree to continue to play at the Arena, then at the sole determination and election by the City ~~in consultation with the~~ and County, ArenaCo or its designees or approved successor or assigns shall be obligated to pay for the reasonable and actual direct costs of demolition and removal of the Arena Facility; provided, however, that in order to elect to exercise such right, the City and County must provide ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns with written notice of such election within 180 days following the end of the term of the Arena Use Agreement (including any extensions exercised by ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors and assigns).

(iv) All decisions provided for in this Section 13.j that are to be made by the City and County will be made jointly by the City and County. If there is a dispute regarding any such decision, the decision will be made by the majority owner.

k. Flow of Arena Tax Revenues.

(i) Tax Benefits. The Parties acknowledge that transactions provided for in and authorized by this MOU may be structured in the Umbrella Agreement and Transaction Documents in a manner that results in more positive tax benefits to the Parties, including the ability of the City and County to issue tax-exempt debt.

(ii) **Arena Tax Revenues.** Arena Tax Revenues will be deposited in the Arena Revenue Account, except for those Arena Tax Revenues that are required to be deposited into the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund prior to the Transfer Date. The City and the County will provide ArenaCo with a monthly accounting detailing Arena Tax Revenues collected and distributed.

(iii) **Arena Revenue Account.** The City will create an “Arena Fund” (and accounts and subaccounts associated therewith) (collectively, “Arena Revenue Account”) into which the City and County will deposit any Arena Tax Revenues (except those Arena Tax Revenues that are required to be deposited in the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund prior to the Transfer Date) plus Base Rent and Additional Rent payments received by the City and County.

(iv) **City-County Capital Account.** On an annual basis, after payment of the Annual Reimbursement Amount has been made and only to the extent of any excess Arena Tax Revenue, the City and County will deposit the first \$2 million of such excess into a separate account (“City-County Capital Account”) to be used for Major Capital Projects, as defined in Section ~~14 (“City-County Capital Account”)~~.¹⁴ The City-County Capital Account shall at all times be the property of the City and County, subject to use and application thereof as provided in this MOU and the applicable Transaction Documents. Any Arena Tax Revenues received annually in excess of such first \$2 million will either be used by the City and County to redeem or defease outstanding principal of the Public Financing, or will be deposited by the City and County into the City-County Capital Account; provided however, if, at any time during the first ten (10) years of the Arena Lease, the City-County Capital Account has a balance of \$10 million, no additional deposits will be made into the City-County Capital Account. After the tenth (10th) year of the Arena Lease, the allowed balance of the City-County Capital Account will increase by \$2 million annually, until the fifteenth (15th) year, and thereafter the maximum balance of the City-County Capital Account will be \$20 million. ~~Any amounts of Arena Tax Revenue in excess of the foregoing amounts required to be deposited in the City-County Capital Account will be retained by the City and County and will be used only to redeem or defease outstanding principal of the Public Financing until such time as all outstanding principal of the Public Financing has been fully retired or defeased, and as At~~ such time as all outstanding principal of the Public Financing has been fully retired or defeased, the above caps will no longer apply and ~~thereafter all, until the end of the initial term of the Arena Use Agreement, any~~ excess Arena Tax Revenues will thereafter be deposited into the City-County Capital Account ~~and, which will be used and applied~~ in the manner ~~and for the purposes~~ provided for in this MOU and the applicable Transaction Documents. Upon expiration of the initial term of the Arena Use Agreement (not including any extensions that may be exercised by ArenaCo), any funds remaining in the City-County Capital Account will be retained by the City and County to be used for any purpose of their choice. The deposits described in this ~~paragraph~~Section will not in any way limit ArenaCo’s obligation to make its annual payment into the Capital Account and to make all capital repairs, replacements and improvements to the Arena as required in this MOU.

(v) **Termination.** Following the defeasance or redemption of all bonds or certificates of participation issued as part of the Public Financing, the City and County will notify ArenaCo that it may withdraw all amounts remaining in the Reserve Account not otherwise required to satisfy ArenaCo’s obligations under the Arena Use Agreement. From and

after the date the Arena Use Agreement (including any extensions exercised by ArenaCo or its designees or approved successors or assigns) is terminated, the City and County may withdraw all amounts remaining in the City-County Capital Account.

14. Capital Improvements.

a. Capital Account. ArenaCo will be required to make two equal semi-annual cash deposits of \$1 Million each (for a total of \$2 Million in annual deposits) into an account (“Capital Account”) in an amount equal to \$2 million annually (“Capital Account Requirement”). Funds in the Capital Account shall be used to make capital repairs, replacements or improvements to the Arena in accordance with this ~~paragraph 14.~~Section 14. The initial Capital Account deposit will be made on the first anniversary of the Commencement Date and payments will be made semi-annually thereafter on the dates that Base Rent and Additional Rent are due.

b. Capital Improvements. Except as set forth herein, ArenaCo will, at its sole cost and expense, make all Capital Expenditures relating to the Arena or its use. "Capital Expenditures" means the purchase, installation, improvement, repair or replacement of items or systems in the Arena Facility and Arena Tenant Improvements with a life expectancy of at least three years, at a cost of five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) per item or system, including labor costs, and that are necessary or appropriate to maintain the Arena throughout the term of the Arena Use Agreement in good repair in accordance with the Schematic Design Package, Design Standards and Operating Standards (as defined below) or which may be required by applicable law, including but not limited to, all capital improvements necessary to maintain the structural integrity of the Arena.

c. Procedure for Making and Approving Capital Improvements and Maintenance Inspections. ArenaCo will, on an annual basis, prepare a proposed five-year capital budget (“Five-Year CIP”) for anticipated Capital Expenditures and Major Capital Projects, as defined below, to be funded by the Capital Account and the City-County Capital Account; provided, however, that nothing herein shall relieve ArenaCo of its obligations set forth in ~~paragraph 14.b~~Section 14.b above, regardless of whether a Capital Expenditure is contemplated by the Five-Year CIP. Within sixty (60) days of the submission, the City and County will either accept the Five-Year CIP in totality, or provide ArenaCo with written notice of any line-items it reasonably believes are not prudent or do not meet the definition of Capital Expenditures or Major Capital Projects, with the undisputed line-items becoming the prevailing Five-Year CIP while any such disputed line-items are being resolved by the Parties as hereinafter provided. The Parties will undertake best efforts to come to a mutually acceptable agreement on the Five-Year CIP within sixty (60) days thereafter, and if the Parties are unable to reach an agreement within said 60-day period, then the issue will be submitted to the dispute resolution provisions of this MOU. In addition, the Parties will develop a procedure for periodic joint inspections and a schedule of major maintenance activities which shall be prepared or reviewed by professionals knowledgeable about life-cycle cost analysis for comparable public facilities. This procedure will include (i) the right of the City-County Representative to receive material non-privileged information regarding major capital improvements during the progress of any major capital improvement projects, and (ii) the right of the City and County to enter upon the Arena for the purposes of performing inspections of the Arena and Tenant Improvements. An

ArenaCo representative will, at the request of the City and County, accompany the City and County Representative on the inspections. Within 30 days after such inspection, the City and County may provide ArenaCo with a list of Capital Expenditures, including Major Capital Projects that the City-County Representative reasonably determines are necessary to maintain the Arena and Tenant Improvements in accordance with the Operating Standards: provided that any such Major Capital Projects undertaken by ArenaCo pursuant to the request of the City-County Representative, may be funded from the City-County Capital Account notwithstanding any other provisions of this MOU. If ArenaCo disputes the City-County Representative's determination, the ArenaCo representative and the City-County Representative will promptly meet to attempt to resolve the dispute. If they fail to resolve the dispute, the parties will attempt to mediate the dispute. If the parties fail to resolve the dispute through mediation, the Parties will submit their dispute the dispute resolution provisions of this MOU.

d. Capital Account Availability. Upon Payment Default, the Capital Account will be available as additional security to the City and County to meet the payment obligations under the Public Financing. ArenaCo may draw on the Capital Account to make any Capital Expenditures including Major Capital Projects consistent with the Five-Year CIP and to fund any other Capital Expenditures. Subject to the rights of ArenaCo under the Arena Use Agreement, all such Capital Expenditures and Major Capital Projects will become the property of the City and County upon completion unless such repairs, replacements or improvements are Tenant Improvements and owned by ArenaCo or the NBA Team or the NHL Team.

e. City-County Capital Account Availability. Provided there is no Payment Default, and subject to any other mutually agreed-upon expenditures to be paid from funds in the City-County Capital Account that are covered in any Five-Year CIP, the first \$2 million in any funds deposited on an annual basis in the City-County Capital Account may be utilized by ArenaCo for the purposes specifically provided for in this MOU, including for routine and any other maintenance and repairs performed by ArenaCo to the Arena Facility or to the City and County owned Arena Tenant Improvements and for other capital repairs, replacements and improvements to the Arena and the Tenant Improvements. If ArenaCo uses the City-County Capital Account for routine and other maintenance and repairs, ArenaCo will make a deposit of an equal amount into the Capital Account, with such funds to be used periodically by ArenaCo only for Major Capital Projects. Other funds deposited in the City-County Capital Account on an annual basis shall only be utilized for major repairs to base systems and other major improvements (e.g., major repairs to the (i) roof, (ii) HVAC system, (iii) primary sound system, (iv) primary lighting system, (v) ice sheet refrigeration system, (vi) primary scoreboards, (vii) plumbing improvements and replacements, and (viii) primary electrical systems) ("Major Capital Projects"). Any City and County-owned Capital Expenditures and Major Capital Projects are subject to the rights of ArenaCo under the Arena Use Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing and in the event of a Payment Default, the City and County may, at their discretion, use any money in the City-County Capital Account for the payment, redemption or defeasance of the Public Financing.

15. Management, Operations and Use.

a. Operating Expenses. ArenaCo will control and will be solely responsible for all day-to-day operations, expenses, and costs for routine maintenance of and repairs to the

Arena (“Arena Operating Expenses”) to maintain it to a standard comparable to three mutually agreed upon professional basketball and ice hockey arenas suitable for NBA and NHL teams and recently constructed, serving as the home facility for NHL and NBA Teams or under construction (“Operating Standards”). The City and County will have no responsibility for any Arena Operating Expenses (except for incremental out-of-pocket expenses associated with City-County Events). ArenaCo shall at all times maintain at least three times (3.0x) the average monthly Arena Operating Expenses in an Operations and Maintenance Fund to be maintained by ArenaCo and its lenders.

(i) Arena Operating Expenses. Arena Operating Expenses means all expenses or obligations, as determined on a cash basis, of whatever kind or nature made or incurred by ArenaCo or any third-party management company that may be engaged by ArenaCo, within the scope of ArenaCo’s authority or responsibility under this MOU or the Transaction Documents for the management, operation or maintenance of the Arena, including, but not limited to, all reasonable costs of the City and County related to the City-County Representative and ArenaCo’s expenses (to the extent not duplicative of other expenses enumerated herein); all payments to be made by ArenaCo or its affiliates under the terms of this MOU, the Umbrella Agreement or the Transaction Documents, including but not limited to: rent payments; Impositions (as defined below); expenses related to parking areas (if applicable); box office expenses for third-party events; all expenses incurred to obtain Arena Revenues (pro-rated where appropriate to reflect an appropriate allocation of revenues between ArenaCo and either the NBA Team or NHL Team); salaries, wages and benefits of personnel working at the Arena including personnel employed by ArenaCo or through its affiliates or service contractors; human resource support services and training and development expenses; contract labor expenses; maintenance and repairs; utilities; deposits for utilities; telephone expenses; management fees paid to any third-party management company; expenses incurred under use or license agreements with licensees or other users of the Arena; telescreen, video and/or scoreboard operation expenses, dues, memberships and subscriptions; security expenses; police, fire, emergency services and other public safety expenses related to the Arena (the estimate and pro ration of which in the event of multiple venue events shall be set forth in the Transaction Documents or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by the Parties); other event-handling activities at the Arena; all expenses payable by ArenaCo under any license agreements with the NBA and NHL teams; audit fees; legal fees; other professional fees; fees payable to concessionaires or other subcontractors; refuse removal expenses; cleaning expenses; taxes (but excluding any taxes, fees or charges ArenaCo may be obligated to collect and submit to a taxing or other government authority on behalf of others); building maintenance supplies; ticket commissions for third-party events; insurance premiums; data processing expenses; advertising expenses relating to Arena advertising and sponsorships; maintenance of advertising and signage relating to all permanent advertising, sponsorships and naming rights; marketing; public relations expenses; expenses and losses (to the extent not duplicative of other expenses enumerated herein) incurred in the production and promotion of events at the Arena; pest control; office supplies; employment fees; freight and delivery expenses; expenses for leasing of equipment; credit and debit facilities and telecheck fees and expenses; Arena-related travel, lodging and related out-of-pocket expenses for officers and directors of ArenaCo or an affiliate; and all damages, losses or expenses incurred by the ArenaCo, its affiliates or any third-party management company as the result of any and all claims, demands, suits, causes of action, proceedings, judgments and liabilities, including reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in litigation or otherwise, assessed, incurred or sustained by

or against any of them (to the extent not covered by insurance proceeds actually received). Operating Expenses do not include any payments to third party lenders.

(ii) Impositions. As used herein, the term “Impositions” means (without duplication of any expense set forth above) all governmental assessments, franchise fees, excises, license and permit fees, levies, charges and taxes, general and special, ordinary and extraordinary, of every kind and nature whatsoever which at any time may be assessed, levied, confirmed, imposed upon, or grow or become due and payable out of or in respect of, or become a lien on: (a) all or any part of the Arena; (b) any payments received by ArenaCo or its affiliates from any holders of a leasehold interest or license in or to the Arena, from ticketholders (including, without limitation, suite licensees and premium seat ticketholders) attending events at the Arena; or (c) the transactions contemplated hereby or any agreement or document to which ArenaCo or its affiliates are a party which creates or transfers rights with respect to all or part of the Arena.

b. Operations. ArenaCo will operate and manage the Arena in accordance with the Operating Standards, as they may change from time to time by the mutual agreement of the Parties. ArenaCo will not enter into any multi-year contracts or grant any rights with respect to the operation of the Arena that would extend beyond ArenaCo’s occupancy under the Arena Use Agreement unless such agreements contain provisions reasonably acceptable to the City and County regarding assignment or termination to be set forth in the Transaction Documents. ArenaCo will provide the City and County with a copy of any such contract. Failure of ArenaCo to operate and manage the Arena in accordance with the Operating Standards or to pay Arena Operating Expenses shall be a default under the Arena Use Agreement and, in addition to other remedies, and subject to reasonable notice and cure provisions mutually agreed upon by the parties, shall entitle the City and County to replace ArenaCo as the operator and manager of the Arena; provided, however, that in the event that ArenaCo disagrees with the City and County that such a default under the Arena Use Agreement has occurred, then such dispute will be submitted and resolved by the parties in accordance with the dispute resolution provisions specified in this MOU. Inspections relating to maintenance of the Arena are permitted as provided in Section ~~13.e.1414.c.~~

c. City-County Events. The City and County will be permitted to use the Arena or portions thereof to host no fewer than 12 events per year that do not conflict with previously scheduled events or hold dates (“City-County Events”). The City and County will have the right to schedule City-County Events in advance based on Arena availability. For City-County Events, the City and/or County will (i) pay no rent or use or license fees, and (ii) be required to pay only the incremental operating costs incurred by ArenaCo with respect to such City-County Events and any applicable taxes. Incremental costs shall not include the costs of foregoing alternative events or attributed overhead operational costs.

d. Marketing. ArenaCo will use commercially reasonable efforts to market the Arena in a manner that promotes and encourages economic development in the area.

e. Team License and Related Agreements. ArenaCo shall enter into license agreements, or other similar agreements, regarding the use of the Arena with the NBA Team and the NHL Team (the “Team License Agreements.”). The Team License Agreements shall be

subject to the approval of the City and County as being consistent with the terms of this MOU and the Transaction Documents, and shall recognize the City and the County as third-party beneficiaries. In connection with such approval right, each Team License Agreement shall provide (i) that the team shall play its preseason, regular season and playoff home games at the Arena in accordance with ~~paragraph 18;~~Section 18; (ii) that the team shall acknowledge and accept, in a separate agreement in the form that will be one of the Transaction Documents, that the Team agrees to the non-relocation provisions in accordance with ~~paragraph 18;~~Section 18; (iii) that there is scheduling priority for the team (but if there is both an NBA Team and an NHL Team then playing in the Arena, subject to reasonable accommodation for any scheduling priority granted to either such team); (iv) for a term of at least 30 years; (v) for payment of rent; (vi) for allocation of the payment of game day expenses; (vii) for allocation of other expenses including maintenance; (viii) for an acknowledgment that ArenaCo shall retain all revenues related to naming rights, Arena founding partner sponsorships and other primary sponsorships related to the Arena; (ix) that ArenaCo shall retain all revenues related to suite sales; (x) that ArenaCo shall retain all revenues not retained by or payable to the teams or leagues for other premium and club seats; (xi) for allocation of revenues from parking, concessions, merchandise, and ticket surcharges (if any); (xii) for marketing of the Arena and the teams; (xiii) for insurance; and (xiv) for indemnification, including indemnification of the City and the County.

16. Arena Design, Development and Construction. ArenaCo will develop, design and construct the Arena as a first-class arena as set forth in the agreed-upon Schematic Design Package and related Design Standards (all as defined below). The City and County will have reasonable ongoing input through a designated representative (the “City-County Representative”) in addition to whatever regulatory design procedures and requirements apply. Within ten (10) business days after execution of the Umbrella Agreement, ArenaCo shall designate an individual who shall serve as the ArenaCo representative for the purposes of communicating with the City-County Representative and decision-making regarding any and all matters related to the construction of the Arena and its operation (“ArenaCo Representative”). The ArenaCo Representative shall have the authority to legally commit ArenaCo regarding any matter relating to Arena construction. ArenaCo will use all reasonable efforts to involve and keep the City-County Representative fully informed on a timely basis of all significant aspects and decisions for design and construction of the Arena. In order to enable the City-County Representative to attend, become informed about the status of the Project, participate in discussions and present the City’s and the County’s position with respect to matters being discussed, the ArenaCo Representative will schedule regular meetings of senior design and construction staff of ArenaCo and other design and construction principals to discuss major issues related to the development and construction of the Project. The City-County Representative will also be notified of weekly design meetings. The City-County Representative will be notified of the time and place of such meetings and of any special meetings held by senior ArenaCo development staff to address similar development issues. The ArenaCo Representative will also participate in such separate meetings with the City-County Representative as the City-County Representative may reasonably request with at least three (3) days’ prior notice. The ArenaCo Representative will also timely provide the City-County Representative with copies of significant construction-related documents including schedule updates, meeting minutes, requests for information (RFIs), responses to the RFIs, change order proposals and design changes. The City-County Representative will be entitled to full disclosure of all material matters relating to the Project as more fully described in ~~paragraph 16.m~~Section 16.1.m. below and will have the rights to specific prior review and approval as set forth in this

~~paragraph 16.m~~Section 16.1.m including, without limitation, reasonable approval on the acceptability of the exterior design program. ArenaCo will fully and fairly review and make good faith efforts to address satisfactorily the City-County Representative's reasonable concerns prior to making a final decision in any matters concerning the Arena exterior design, so long as such input is timely received. However, the City-County Representative's review and recommendations, or other actions performed by the City-County Representative as described herein, will not in any manner cause the City or the County to bear any responsibility for the design or construction of the Arena or any defects related thereto.

a. Cost Allocation and Arena Site Repurchase Obligation.

(i) As between ArenaCo, on the one hand, and the City and County, on the other hand, ArenaCo (~~ia~~) will be solely responsible for the cost of design, permitting and construction of the Arena, including any cost overruns and any remediation of any hazardous materials on the Project Site (to the extent any such hazardous materials are required to be remediated by a state or federal agency with jurisdiction in connection with the construction of the Arena on the Project Site), and (~~ib~~) will be solely responsible for any defects related thereto. Nothing herein shall create any obligations on the part of ArenaCo to any third parties. On the Closing Date, ArenaCo will furnish a payment and performance bond issued by a surety reasonably satisfactory to the City and the County naming the City and County as dual obligees in compliance with Chapter 35.42 RCW. As required by RCW 35.42.060, no part of the cost of the construction of the Arena Facility shall ever become an obligation of the City and the County under the Lease-Purchase Agreement.

(ii) In the event that the Arena Facility and the Arena Tenant Improvements are not completed as described in the Design Standards within five (5) years following funding of the First Installment to ArenaCo for a reason other than based upon the occurrence of a "Force Majeure" event (which will be defined by the Parties in the applicable Transaction Documents) or "Regulatory Changes" (as hereinafter defined), then at the written request of the City and County given to ArenaCo within 180 days following the expiration of such five (5) year period, ArenaCo and ArenaCo Parent or their designee shall repurchase and the City and County shall sell to ArenaCo and ArenaCo Parent or their designee ("Repurchase Obligation") the Project Site and any improvements thereon or thereto that have previously been made, at a purchase price equal to (a) the First Installment, plus (b) any capitalized unpaid interest or accreted value on the First Installment, less (c) any amounts previously received by the City and County that are applied to or that are required to be applied to redemption or defeasement of the principal amount of the First Installment (the "Repurchase Price"). For the purposes of this Section 16.a.(ii), Regulatory Change shall mean any new or modified law, rule, regulation, ordinance or requirement adopted and/or enforced by the City or County (or any party acting under the authority thereof) acting in its legislative, regulatory or administrative capacity, that prevents or materially impairs or restricts ArenaCo from completing the Arena Facility and the Arena Tenant Improvements within said five (5) year period. In the event of the occurrence of a "Force Majeure" event (as defined in the applicable Transaction Documents) during said five (5) year period that prevents or materially impairs or restricts the ability of ArenaCo to complete the Arena Facility and the Arena Tenant Improvements within said five (5) year period, then such five (5) year period within which ArenaCo is required to complete the Arena Facility and the Arena Tenant Improvements will be extended for an additional period of

Formatted
Numbering
Alignment
2" + Inde

time during which such Force Majeure event continues to prevent or materially impair or restrict ArenaCo's ability to complete the Arena Facility and the Arena Tenant Improvements, and if the Arena Facility and the Arena Tenant Improvements are not completed by the end of such extended period of time, then the Repurchase Obligation will again be applicable for the 180 day period immediately following the end of such extended period of time. In the event of a Regulatory Change within said five (5) year period, then the Repurchase Price will be adjusted downward by an amount equal to the diminution in value of the Project Site (in its then current condition) taking into consideration any negative impacts of any such Regulatory Change, as determined by an independent appraiser selected by the Parties. In the event that the Parties are unable to agree upon an independent appraiser to make such determination of such adjusted Repurchase Price, the selection of such independent appraiser will be submitted by the Parties to the dispute resolution procedures provided for in this MOU. This Repurchase Obligation shall be an obligation secured by the Personal Guaranty described in Section ~~13.g.ii~~13.g(ii).

b. Design Standards. The Arena will, among other things,

(i) conform to the size, configuration and description of the Project Site and conform to the Design Standards and Operating Standards;

(ii) enable ArenaCo to maximize returns generated within the Arena from sources including, without limitation, ticket sales, lease or license of suites and club seats, sales of food, beverages and merchandise, license of intellectual property and advertising, promotional activities and sponsorship;

(iii) be in compliance with the then applicable NBA and NHL requirement standards for arenas and be substantially similar in the quality of the design, construction and capabilities to three (3) mutually agreed upon arenas with the capacity capability to accommodate both NBA and NHL teams, the construction or substantial remodel of which was completed after 1999; and

(iv) meet the requirements of all applicable federal and state laws and City and County codes and ordinances.

c. Sustainability. The Arena will be designed and constructed to comply with applicable City requirements for sustainable construction and will strive to utilize the most modern practices of sustainable design and construction available at the time of construction in accordance with ArenaCo's business interests.

d. NBA and NHL Approvals. ArenaCo will obtain advance acknowledgements from both the NBA and NHL indicating that the Arena has been designed in a manner sufficient to permit the NBA Team and NHL Team to play their home games at the Arena.

e. Design Process. ArenaCo, with ongoing input from the City-County Representative, will work with the architect to develop a "Schematic Design Package." The Schematic Design Package will conform to the Design Standards and will, at a minimum, consist of a master plan, drawings, plans and specifications and a development program in sufficient detail to describe all material design elements of the Arena. The Parties will continue this

collaborative process through the preparation of design development plans and outline specifications. As part of the collaborative process, the Design Review Board and the Seattle Design Commission will coordinate their review of the Arena.

f. City-County Design Approval. The City-County Representative will have the right to approve the Schematic Design Package for the Arena, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

g. Construction. ArenaCo will cause the Arena to be constructed in all material respects in accordance with the Design Standards and Schematic Design Package.

h. Construction Decisions. It is the intent of the Parties to cause the Arena to be constructed and open for events as soon as reasonably practicable. Consistent with the foregoing, any material deviation from the approved Design Standards or the Schematic Design Package will require the approval of the City-County Representative, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Nothing in the dispute resolution provisions of the Transaction Documents will limit the City's or County's right to seek injunctive or other relief if ArenaCo fails to comply with the provisions of this ~~paragraph~~Section.

i. Contracting. Contracts for construction of the Arena ("Arena Contracts") will be put out for bid to a group of potential contractors who have had extensive experience constructing significant sports and entertainment facilities and are otherwise acceptable to ArenaCo. Arena Contracts will provide for substantial liquidated damages in case of late completion and require payment and performance bonds in favor of ArenaCo and the City and County consistent with industry standards. The Arena Contracts will also include contingency allowances and other appropriate cost overrun and completion protections as reasonably determined by ArenaCo, it being understood that, as between ArenaCo, on the one hand, and the City and County, on the other, any cost overruns will be the sole responsibility of ArenaCo. Arena Contracts will provide for the payment of prevailing wages at the rates specified by regulation for the specific categories of work performed. The selection of and contracts with principal subcontractors, principal engineers, architects, design and other consultants and significant suppliers will be subject to review by the City-County Representative, but ArenaCo will have the final decision-making authority with respect to such matters.

j. Other Provisions. The Project should promote and include the racial and ethnic communities of the City of Seattle and King County. Part of this Project's economic and community contribution is to engage local minority workers and businesses who are historically disenfranchised, as well as low-income workers and businesses. All Parties agree upon the importance of effective strategies and programs to include local minority and woman workers and firms in Project design and construction, with an ongoing commitment by ArenaCo to use reasonable efforts to use such local workers in the operations and maintenance aspects of the Arena. To that end, ArenaCo commits to using the City of Seattle's Inclusion Plan as guidance for use of Women and Minority Business Enterprises (WMBEs) on the Project. This includes using specific strategies such as the use of the "Worksheet of Possibilities" that helps bidders analyze what work or supply could be subcontracted to WMBE firms, the use of the "Contract Commitment Log" that documents (i) WMBE firms the prime contractor commits to subcontract with and (ii) contract amounts awarded to WMBE firms.

k. Insurance and Indemnification. All contracts for the design and construction of the Arena will include typical provisions for insurance covering, among other things, errors and omissions, general liability, workers' compensation, business interruption, and builder's risk. Upon completion of construction of the Arena and during the term of the Arena Use Agreement, ArenaCo will continuously maintain general liability insurance, and property insurance for the full replacement value of the Arena, including casualty due to earthquakes and flood, and other insurance the City and County deem reasonable and applicable to the Arena. The City and County will be additional insureds or loss payees on all insurance policies and will approve the forms and limits of liability of all policies. ArenaCo will defend, hold harmless, and indemnify the City and the County for any costs, expenses or losses arising from the design, construction and operation of the Arena.

l. Disputes with Architects, General Contractors and Other Project Parties. The City and County may, at the sole discretion of each, intervene and join as a party in any action at law or equity or in any arbitration between ArenaCo any one or more of the architects, and any Arena contractor, subcontractor, consultants or suppliers relating to design or construction of the Arena.

m. Access to Information and Personnel. In addition to the access provided to the City-County Representative as set forth in this ~~paragraph 16~~ Section, all material non-privileged written and electronic communications from or to ArenaCo will include the City-County Representative on the distribution list and will promptly be furnished to the City-County Representative. All material non-privileged documents and other information in all media generated by any of the Key Project Personnel in connection with the Project will be made available to the City-County Representative on a timely basis upon the City-County Representative's request.

n. Labor Peace Agreement. Following the execution of the Umbrella Agreement, ArenaCo will enter into a "labor peace agreement" providing for the matters specified in the draft agreement set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein.

17. Key Arena.

a. Use of Key Arena. Prior to completion of the Arena, any NBA and NHL franchise owned by ArenaCo or by an affiliate of or major investor in ArenaCo, or that has committed to play its home games in the Arena, will have the option to play their home games in Key Arena. During the tenancy of any such NBA or NHL teams at Key Arena, ArenaCo will cause certain improvements to be made to Key Arena, and those improvements which are of a permanent nature, which may include modernization of the telephone, data and broadcast "backbones" of the arena, as well as refurbishment and minor renovation to the event-level locker rooms and other spaces, will remain behind after the Arena is completed and opens and will become the property of the City.

b. Key Arena Fund. The City will establish a separate fund or account ("Key Arena Fund") to be managed by the City and used for improvements to Key Arena or to fund improvements at the new Arena, which will be determined ~~by the City~~ consistent in accordance with the provisions of this Section ~~17.b;~~ 17.b. considering input by ArenaCo. The

first \$7 million of ~~incremental~~ Key Arena Taxes, as defined below, will be deposited into the Key Arena Fund and will be used and applied as provided in Section 17.a, or to fund improvements at ~~the new Arena; provided, however, that in the event that ArenaCo negotiates a long term lease containing terms that are commercially viable for both ArenaCo and each existing anchor tenant at Key Arena with regularly scheduled events that do not and will not conflict with regularly scheduled NBA Team or NHL Team events, then the City will direct the Key Arena Fund to be used to support investments and fund improvements of the new Arena as provided for in this MOU,~~ the new Arena, as follows: (i) if the City and the existing professional team anchor tenant of the Key Arena are, within 24 months of the Effective Date, able to reach agreement on mutually agreeable terms for a long-term lease extension for such professional team anchor tenant to continue to play its home games at the Key Arena, then the City will direct the full \$7 million in the Key Arena Fund to be utilized for improvements to the Key Arena as provided for in Section 17.a above; (ii) if no such long-term lease extension for the professional team anchor tenant to continue playing its home games at Key Arena is agreed to, but in the event that by no later than the Commencement Date, ArenaCo and such professional team anchor tenant are able to reach agreement on mutually acceptable terms for a long term lease for such professional team anchor tenant to play its home games at the new Arena containing terms that are commercially viable for both ArenaCo and such tenant, then the City will direct that \$5 million of the monies in the Key Arena Fund be used to support investments and fund improvements of the new Arena as provided for in this MOU; and (iii) if neither of the above in 17.b.(i) or 17.b.(ii) occurs, then the full \$7 million in the Key Arena Fund will be directed by the City to fund the improvements to the Key Arena as provided for in Section 17.a of this MOU. To facilitate negotiations with Key Arena's existing professional team anchor, the City anticipates concluding a feasibility assessment of operating Key Arena in its current configuration, or a configuration that would effectively serve this tenant, within 18 months of the Effective Date. After a cumulative total \$7 million of Key Arena Taxes are deposited in the Key Arena Fund, any additional Key Arena Taxes collected prior to the Transfer Date will be deposited into the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund. Notwithstanding the fact that certain of the funds from the Key Arena Fund may be used and applied as provided in this Section 17, the creation of the Key Arena Fund does not ~~replace any~~ relieve ArenaCo of its obligations of ArenaCo provided for under this Section 17 of the MOU.

c. Key Arena Taxes. "Key Arena Taxes" means the dollar amount of incremental sales tax, leasehold excise tax, and admission tax attributable to Key Arena and generated while the NBA Team and/or NHL Team is playing at Key Arena, plus City business tax revenues imposed under Chapter 5.45 SMC or any successor provision that the City has reasonably determined it received from ArenaCo and from other business activities engaged in, at or from Key Arena (including and without limitation revenues from the business activities that have a substantial nexus with the City).

18. Non-Relocation. ArenaCo will cause the NBA and NHL franchises committed to play home games in the Arena to enter into binding and enforceable non-relocation agreements with the City and County that will include specific performance, liquidated damages that recognize the direct and indirect damages that would be incurred by the City and by the County, including loss of financial, social and civic benefits that are derived by the City and the County from the presence of an NBA Team or an NHL Team and the playing of their respective home games in the City, and injunctive relief provisions, pursuant to which the teams will irrevocably

and unconditionally commit and guarantee to be domiciled in Seattle and to play at least two (2) pre-season and all their home regular season and post-season games at the Arena for a term of at least 30 years (subject to a limited number of league-approved neutral site games and other agreed upon customary exceptions). The non-relocation agreements will contain terms that require the NBA and NHL franchises to maintain their NBA or NHL membership in good standing during the term of the Arena Use Agreement. Under those non-relocation agreements, the NBA and NHL teams will not relocate from the City of Seattle, will not apply to the NBA or the NHL to transfer to another location outside of the City of Seattle, will not enter into or participate in any negotiations or discussions with, or apply for, or seek approval from, third-parties with respect to any agreement, legislation or financing that contemplates or would be reasonably likely to result in any breach of the non-relocation agreement, and will have no right to terminate the non-relocation agreement during the term of the agreement, in each case except as provided in the definitive non-relocation agreement. The non-relocation agreements will expressly provide that specific performance requiring the NBA franchise and the NHL franchise to play pre-season, regular season and post-season games at the Arena is an appropriate remedy for breach.

19. Governing Law. This MOU is, and the Umbrella Agreement and the Transaction Documents will be, governed by the laws of the State of Washington. Venue for any action under the Transaction Documents, including any bankruptcy proceeding, will be in King County, Washington. The terms of this MOU are not intended to establish or to create any rights in any persons or entities other than the Parties and the respective approved successors or assigns of each of the Parties.

20. Tax Matters. The Parties will mutually endeavor to preserve and/or maximize, as applicable, the tax benefits accruing to each of them. Specifically, the federal tax benefits for ArenaCo and the state and local tax benefits to the City and the County will be maximized to the extent permitted by law. The structure of the transactions as set forth herein may be modified in a manner that results in more positive tax effects to the Parties.

21. Scheduling Coordination. ArenaCo will coordinate with the Seattle Mariners, the Seattle Sounders and the Seattle Seahawks, as well as the Washington State Public Stadium Authority (CenturyLink Field) and the Washington-King County Stadium Authority (Safeco Field), to minimize the number of conflicting and overlapping events held at the existing stadiums and the proposed Arena. The Transaction Documents will include specific provisions limiting the number and duration of such conflicts and providing for City oversight and enforcement of these provisions.

22. City Commitments.

a. **Key Arena.** During the 12 months following approval of the MOU, the City will lead a planning process to evaluate options for the future of Key Arena or the Key Arena site. The process will draw upon input from the Seattle Center Advisory Commission, professionals from the real estate and entertainment fields, local stakeholders, and others with relevant expertise and interest. The goal of this process will be to identify an option(s) that is financially sustainable and that significantly contributes to the vitality of Seattle Center. As part

of this process, the City will consider the interests of Key Arena's current tenants and their role in ensuring the future success of Key Arena and the Key Arena site and the new Arena. As provided in ~~paragraph 3.b~~Section 3.b of this MOU, the reasonable costs incurred by the City to assess the future of uses of Key Arena or the Key Arena site up to a maximum of \$150,000 will represent a reimbursable Development Cost. At least \$2 million of deposits in the Key Arena Fund will be reserved to implement the results of this study.

b. **Land-use protections for Port and Industrial Areas.** ~~In cooperation with~~With participation of stakeholders in the Greater Duwamish Manufacturing and Industrial Center ("MIC")/SODO area, including representatives from all the sports facilities, Pioneer Square and the Chinatown/International District, the Port of Seattle, the County, the Manufacturing Industrial Council and other MIC manufacturing, industrial groups, freight and shipping businesses, the City will undertake the following planning ~~efforts and~~ land use study intended to develop new land use mechanisms to maximize the economic viability of the MIC, and civic vitality of both the stadium area and the manufacturing and industrial center~~the Stadium Transition Area Overlay District~~. These efforts will be coordinated with the transportation planning efforts and investments related to the SODO Transportation Infrastructure Fund.

(i) MIC Policy and Land Use Study. Evaluate the necessary policies, land uses, and zoning mechanisms, such as a Port Overlay District, to protect maritime and industrial uses and reinforce the role of the ~~Duwamish Manufacturing and Industrial Center (MIC)~~ as a manufacturing and industrial sanctuary. Industrial zoned land is a vital ~~economic~~ economic asset and industrial businesses located there are critical to the city's and region's overall economic health and global competitiveness, and contribute significantly to Seattle's family-wage job base and the economy. The planning effort ("MIC Policy and Land Use Study") will build on the City's Comprehensive Plan policies and goals for the ~~Duwamish~~ MIC and the Container Port Element, the MIC Neighborhood Plan, as well as the Port of Seattle's Century Agenda ~~Strategic Plan~~. The objectives of this planning effort are to strengthen the ~~edges~~ long-term viability of the MIC, protect industrial uses and Port operations, such as at Terminal 46, outside of the Stadium Transition Area Overlay District from ~~being undermined~~ encroachment and conversion to non-industrial uses, reinforce the MIC as an industrial sanctuary, and coordinate with the Seattle Industrial Areas Freight Access Project that is scheduled to begin in January 2013.

(ii) Reevaluate the effectiveness of the Stadium Transition Area Overlay District and the City's Comprehensive Plan policies and goals for this area, particularly in light of the removal of the Alaskan Way Viaduct and other recent transportation improvements, the Central Waterfront Plan, and the Stadium District Concept Plan. Consider policy and regulatory changes that would better orient the District to the needs and experience of stadium patrons, improve pedestrian connections to and from the stadiums, and ~~lead to~~ produce a pedestrian-friendly streetscape compatible with Pioneer Square, while recognizing the importance of preserving industrial uses outside of the District.

(iii) The MIC Policy and Land Use Study shall include recommendations to the City Council and Mayor for new land use regulatory changes to

implement the goals and purposes of this Section and shall be completed no later than December 31, 2014.

23. Additional Provisions.

a. Naming Rights. ArenaCo will have the right to designate the name of the Arena, subject to approval by the City-County Representative as hereinafter provided, and to name other areas of within the Arena. The City-County Representative will not withhold his or her approval of any name of the Arena, so long as it does not, in the City-County Representative's reasonable judgment, violate the standards of good taste existing in the Seattle-King County area and will not otherwise be an embarrassment to the City or County. Unless the City and County agree otherwise, which agreement will not be unreasonably withheld, the name given to the Arena will not include reference to any state, local or other municipality name unless such reference is to "Seattle" or "King County."

b. Team Name. Subject to NBA approval and applicable rules, regulations, requirements and agreements of the NBA, ArenaCo or an affiliate of ArenaCo shall use its best efforts to acquire from the current owner thereof the "Seattle Sonics / Supersonics" name, trademarks, memorabilia (banners, trophies and retired jerseys), and the right to use and refer to the history of the "Seattle Supersonics" (as those rights are more thoroughly described below), and any NBA Team domiciled in Seattle, Washington and operated by ArenaCo or an affiliate of ArenaCo that owns such NBA team will use the name "Seattle Supersonics." The City will use its best efforts to assist ArenaCo or an affiliate of ArenaCo that owns such NBA Team to: (i) acquire the unrestricted rights to use the name trademarks, any logos, symbols, designs, trade dress (including, but not limited to, team colors) or other indicia associated with the Seattle SuperSonics/Supersonics for purposes of identifying such NBA Team, and (ii) obtain the right to use and refer to the Seattle SuperSonics history (e.g., statistics, player histories and records) from prior NBA seasons during which the NBA Team formerly known as the Seattle SuperSonics played their NBA home games in Seattle, and (iii) obtain a transfer of the trophies, banners, and retired jerseys and other related memorabilia from the current owner thereof. Subject to NBA approval and applicable rules, regulations, requirements and agreements of the NBA, and subject to ArenaCo or an affiliate of ArenaCo having successfully obtained the rights to the "Seattle Sonics / Supersonics" name, trademarks, memorabilia (banners, trophies and retired jerseys), and the right to use and refer to the history of the "Seattle Supersonics" as provided above, and provided further that the City and County are not in breach of the Arena Use Agreement or any of their other material obligations to ArenaCo under the Transaction Documents, if the NBA team domiciled in Seattle and operated by ArenaCo or an affiliate of ArenaCo that owns such rights ever relocates to a City other than Seattle, then ArenaCo or such affiliate of ArenaCo that operates such NBA team shall transfer all rights to the name, trademarks, memorabilia and right to use and reference the history related to the "Seattle Supersonics" to the City, and further, subject to NBA approval and the applicable rules, regulations, requirements and agreements of the NBA this transfer requirement shall apply to any new name, trademarks, memorabilia or right to use and refer to the history of such NBA team if such NBA team domiciled in Seattle ever adopts a new name with the approval of the City and County or otherwise, and thereafter relocates to a City other than Seattle.. When appropriate, ArenaCo or an affiliate will prominently include "Seattle" as part of the team name in public references for marketing, advertising, promotional and other business purposes, subject to the requirements and restrictions

Formatted
Numbered
C, ... + Sta
at: 2" + I

of the NBA; provided, however, that it is understood and agreed that the names “SuperSonics” and “Sonics” may be used without the name “Seattle” to market, advertise and promote the team and for other business purposes when deemed appropriate by ArenaCo or an affiliate of ArenaCo that owns the NBA Team.

c. Arena Agreements. The Umbrella Agreement and the Transaction Documents associated with design, development, construction, operation, and maintenance of the Arena will contain such other provisions, representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities as the Parties may agree or as are customarily included in similar documents related to the lease, design, development, construction, operation, and maintenance of NBA and NHL arenas in the United States or of other major public facilities within the City of Seattle. The Umbrella Agreement and the Transaction Documents will not be assignable without the written consent of all Parties, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, hindered or delayed; provided, however, that the City and County agree that ArenaCo may assign the Transaction Documents: (i) to an affiliate or subsidiary of ArenaCo that is owned or controlled by ArenaCo or ArenaCo's majority or controlling owners, or (ii) in connection with a sale, transfer or assignment by ArenaCo or such affiliate or subsidiary of a controlling interest in ArenaCo or such an affiliate or subsidiary, or a transfer by ArenaCo or such an affiliate or subsidiary of substantially all of the assets of ArenaCo if (x) the purchaser, transferee or assignee assumes all obligations and liabilities of ArenaCo, or its assignee, under the Transaction Documents, including provision of a guaranty satisfying the requirements of ~~paragraph 13.g.(ii),~~ Section 13.g(ii), (y) ArenaCo demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the City and County that such purchaser, transferee or assignee has sufficient financial capability to meet all such obligations and liabilities of ArenaCo and its affiliates under the applicable Transaction Documents, and (z) the purchaser, transferee or assignee together with the individual persons that own, directly or indirectly, such purchaser, transferee or assignee, are of a moral character reasonably acceptable to the City and County.

d. Seattle Domicile. ArenaCo and any affiliate entity of ArenaCo that owns the NBA Team or the NHL Team will be domiciled in Seattle, Washington, and will maintain their headquarters, offices and substantially all of their employees in Seattle, Washington.

e. Review of ArenaCo Financial Information. In addition to the condition precedent set forth in Section 24.a and during the term of the Arena Use Agreement, the City and County will have the right to review all relevant financial records of ArenaCo relating to the ability of ArenaCo to carry out any of its financial obligations under this MOU, the Arena Use Agreement and the Transaction Documents, and of ArenaCo Parent relating to the ability of ArenaCo Parent to carry out any of its financial obligations under this MOU, the Arena Use Agreement and the Transaction Documents, provided that disclosure of such financial records is not otherwise prohibited or restricted by contractual obligations or applicable laws, ~~rules, regulations or policies (including, but not limited to, applicable the~~ rules, regulations or policies of the NBA or NHL),² and only if a statutory exemption for such financial records is available under chap. 42.56 RCW (the Public Records Act), and if such an exemption under chap. 42.56 RCW (the Public Records Act) is not available or disclosure is prevented by contractual obligations or applicable laws, or the rules, regulations, or policies of the NBA or NHL, ArenaCo and ArenaCo Parent shall provide, to the satisfaction of the City and County, an alternative and reliable means by which the City and County can assess the ability of ArenaCo

and ArenaCo Parent to carry out their financial obligations under the Arena Use Agreement, this MOU and the Transaction Documents. Any direct reasonable and necessary costs actually incurred by the City and County completing any such financial review will be reimbursed by ArenaCo.

f. Community Benefit Agreement. Prior to the Closing Date, ArenaCo shall enter into a Community Benefit Agreement ("CBA") with appropriate community organizations to foster equity and social justice and provide benefit to the communities that will be affected by the Arena, including for example Pioneer Square, and the Chinatown/International District. ArenaCo shall communicate with a variety of community organizations, community members and the City and County to identify the appropriate issues to be addressed by the CBA, which may include economic development, employment opportunities with living wages, job training and apprenticeships, transportation and parking, community amenities, and public safety, as they relate to the Arena and its operations. The CBA shall also provide the structure for meaningful ongoing community dialog and partnership with ArenaCo once the Arena is operational, including annual reporting on fulfillment of mitigating measures.

(i) Community Involvement. ArenaCo is committed to having the NBA franchise that will play home games in the Arena maintain a strong presence in the community, as professional sports franchises can have a positive impact on youth. As a regional asset, the NBA franchise will work to establish partnerships with organizations throughout King County that serve youth and underserved communities, particularly in areas where Public Health-Seattle & King County have identified health and education disparities. The NBA franchise will establish partnerships with the goal of contributing to the future success and health of youth with initiatives such as scholarship funds, afterschool programs, youth mentorship and improved basketball facilities in the region to increase opportunities to play and learn the game of basketball.

(ii) Access and Affordability. A successful NBA franchise is one that enables people from all communities and all income levels to attend games. ArenaCo is committed to making tickets to NBA games affordable to middle and low income individuals and families. To demonstrate this, the NBA franchise will go beyond the league standard for providing affordable tickets (current standard is an average of 500 tickets per game at \$10 or less), by offering an average of 500 tickets per game at \$10 or less plus an additional average of 1,000 tickets per game at \$20 or less for a total of 1,500 tickets at reduced prices and increased annually by CPI.

g. Economic Impact Analysis.

(i) ArenaCo shall reimburse the City and County for the cost (not to exceed \$150,000) to conduct an economic impacts analysis ("Analysis") that examines the net economic impacts of the construction and operation of the Arena. The Analysis shall study the net economic costs and benefits of the construction and operation of the Arena in the geographical areas that would be affected by the construction and operation of the Arena and shall consider all relevant segments of the economy that would be affected by the construction and operation of the Arena, including without limitation retail, commercial, industrial and freight transportation. The Analysis shall include, without limitation, study of (a) the net changes in

employment, wages, economic activity and tax revenues; (b) the net effects on Port of Seattle economic activity; (c) the net effects on the overall regional economy and the Arena's compatibility with regional economic development plans; and (d) the net effects on women-owned and minority-owned businesses.

(ii) The Analysis shall be prepared by an independent consultant fully qualified to prepare the Analysis ("Consultant") selected by the City and County with the approval of ArenaCo, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The scope of the Analysis shall be determined by the City and County based on the reasonable recommendations of the Consultant consistent with the requirements of this Section 23.23.g and with the approval of ArenaCo, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Upon selection of the Consultant, the City and County shall enter into a written contract with the Consultant ("Consultant Contract") regarding the preparation of the Analysis. The Consultant Contract shall require any preliminary drafts of the Analysis be made available for review by ArenaCo at the same time as they are made available for review by the City and County. The City and County shall supervise the Analysis preparation process and will have sole authority to approve the final Analysis.

(iii) The Analysis shall be completed according to the following timeline: (a) The City and County will select the Consultant and inform ArenaCo of the selection within twenty-five (25) days of the Effective Date and ArenaCo shall respond within five (5) days thereafter (and if ArenaCo reasonably disapproves the selection the City and County will select a different Consultant consistent with the timeline and process set forth in this subsection Section) and (b) the Analysis shall be completed within ninety (90) days following execution of the Consultant Contract. The Parties may agree to modify these timelines and a failure to meet these timelines shall not interfere with the ability of the City and County to exercise their rights under the condition precedent in paragraph 24.Section 24.g of this MOU.

h. WNBA Team. The Parties hereby affirm the value and importance of maintaining the presence of a Women's National Basketball Association (WNBA) team in the Seattle region. The current WNBA team is the Seattle Storm. The Parties shall use reasonable efforts to support the Seattle Storm or any successor WNBA team operating in Seattle at either the Arena or Key Arena.

24. City/County Conditions Precedent. The obligations of the City and County under this MOU to commit Public Financing are expressly conditioned on the following conditions precedent:

a. Financing and Delivery of Initial Deposit to Reserve Account. Before the Umbrella Agreement and Transaction Documents ~~will~~may be authorized as described in Section 24.24.e below, (i) ArenaCo has arranged for all financing or other funding necessary to fully finance or fund the Project; and (ii) the City and County and their respective councils reasonably determine they are satisfied that ArenaCo and its investors have the resources to meet their financial obligations under this MOU and the applicable Transaction Documents. Before the City and County commit Public Financing, ArenaCo shall have arranged for delivery of the required initial deposit into the Reserve Account. The City and County, or a third party selected by the City and County, will be provided with access to all relevant information and

documentation provided to ArenaCo third party lenders to enable the City and County to make the determinations specified in Sections ~~24.a.(i) and 24.a.~~(24.a.(i) and 24.a.(ii) above, unless and to the extent that any such relevant information and documentation cannot be protected by a statutory exemption for such information and documentation under chap. 42.56 RCW (the Public Records Act), or unless and to the extent that the access to such information and documentation is otherwise prohibited or restricted by contractual obligations imposed by third parties, or by applicable laws, or the rules, regulations or policies (~~including, but not limited to, applicable laws, rules, regulations and policies~~ of the NBA or NHL),² in which case ArenaCo and ArenaCo Parent will provide, to the reasonable satisfaction of the City and County, alternative and reasonably reliable means by which the City and County can make the determinations specified in Sections ~~24.a.(i) and 24.a.~~(24.a.(i) and 24.a.(ii) above.

b. SEPA and Permitting. Before the Umbrella Agreement and Transaction Documents may be authorized as described in Section 24.e below, (i) SEPA review associated with any City or County actions as described in ~~paragraph 5~~Section 5 of this MOU has been completed through issuance of a Final Environmental Impact Statement; (ii) the master use permit and all other permits required for construction of the Project have been obtained; (iii) the City and County and their respective councils have considered the SEPA review in connection with their respective actions and have determined whether it is appropriate to proceed with or without additional or revised conditions based on the SEPA review; and (iv) any challenges to the Project have been resolved in a manner reasonably acceptable to the Parties.

c. Due Diligence for Site Acquisition. The City and County shall have determined, in their reasonable discretion, that the condition of title to, and the environmental condition of, the Property is suitable for acquisition and subsequent development for the Arena Facility consistent with this MOU. The City and County shall complete their review and determination no later than 150 calendar days after the Effective Date, or such other date as may be mutually agreed upon by the Parties. The City-County Representative may give written notice on or prior to 150 calendar days after the Effective Date or such mutually agreed upon date that the condition of title to or the environmental condition of the Property are not suitable for acquisition and subsequent development for the Arena Facility consistent with this MOU, specifying the reasons therefore, in which case, unless the Parties otherwise mutually agree in good faith upon a reasonably satisfactory method for ArenaCo to resolve the City's and County's objections to the condition of title to and environmental condition of the Property, this MOU shall terminate. No later than ten days ~~before~~after the Effective Date, ArenaCo shall provide the City-County Representative with copies of all documents in the possession of ArenaCo that relate to the condition of the Property, including a preliminary commitment for title insurance and any documents relating to the environmental condition of the Property, but excluding any documents that are privileged or proprietary. Such documents shall be provided without warranty. ArenaCo shall also provide the City-County Representative, and other designated employees and consultants of City and County as may be reasonably requested by the City-County Representative, with access to the Property for purposes of conducting due diligence review provided for in this ~~paragraph 24.~~Section 24.c, subject to any required consents from current owners and occupants and subject to the City's and County's agreement to indemnify ArenaCo for any costs or damages arising in connection with or relating to such entry ("Right of Entry Agreement"). Such entry and such due diligence testing or investigations to be conducted as provided for in this ~~paragraph 24.~~Section 24.c, shall also be subject to the further terms and

Formatted

conditions of such Right of Entry Agreement. If any land is acquired or proposed to be acquired and added to the Project Site after the Effective Date for which ArenaCo has not previously provided the City and County with the documents and access described above for the purposes of enabling the City and County to determine that the condition of title to, and the environmental condition of such additional property is suitable for acquisition and subsequent development of the Arena Facility consistent with this MOU, then the City and County will have up to an additional one-hundred fifty (150) days after receiving written notice of such acquisition or proposed acquisition from ArenaCo and after receiving such documents and access to complete due diligence review of such additional land consistent with this ~~section~~Section.

d. NBA Team, Use Agreement, Non-Relocation Agreement and Community Benefits Agreement. ArenaCo or a third party under contract with ArenaCo has secured (i) ownership rights to an NBA franchise and (ii) subject to NBA approval and applicable rules, regulations, requirements and agreements of the NBA, the rights to the “Sonics” name, trademarks, memorabilia and right to use and refer to the history or has used its best efforts to do so, as provided for and described in ~~paragraph 23.b~~Section 23.b of this MOU; and that NBA franchise and the Parties have entered into a non-relocation agreement as described in ~~paragraph 18;Section 18;~~ and that the Parties and the appropriate community organizations have entered into the Community Benefit Agreement described in ~~paragraph 23.f;Section 23.f;~~ and that the NBA has acknowledged the Arena Use Agreement, the NBA has approved locating the NBA Team in Seattle and the NBA has acknowledged the non-relocation agreement; and that ArenaCo has entered into a Team License Agreement with the NBA Team as required by and consistent with ~~paragraph 15.e;Section 1515.e.~~

e.e. Document Approval. The Umbrella Agreement and the Transaction Documents have been negotiated and the City and County are authorized by their councils to execute the documents.

f. Material Adverse Conditions. As of the date of this MOU, the Parties acknowledge that the City and County have sufficient debt capacity and access to financial markets to meet their obligations under this MOU. However, in the case of a natural disaster, a significant change in state or federal law, or a substantive change in financial markets or conditions such that the City and County are unable to issue debt on reasonable terms consistent with ~~paragraph 10~~Section 10 and the Parties are unable to agree in good faith on viable alternatives, the Public Financing will not occur and the City and County will not be required to make any further financial investment or to provide for the payments to ArenaCo under ~~paragraph~~Section 10 or otherwise.

g. Economic Impact Analysis Findings. The Analysis required by Section ~~23;~~23.g of this MOU has been completed and the City and County and their respective councils have considered the Analysis and have determined whether it is appropriate to proceed with or without additional or revised conditions based on the Analysis. The City and County councils shall make this determination by vote within forty-five (45) calendar days following the completion of the Analysis. Calculation of this forty-five (45) day period shall include weekends but shall exclude any City or County holidays and any City Council or County Council recesses.

25. ArenaCo Conditions Precedent. The obligations of ArenaCo under this MOU are expressly conditioned on the following conditions precedent:

a. Permitting. All permits necessary for construction, use and operation of the Arena, and all parking and other facilities accessory to the Arena, shall have been issued and shall be in form and substance satisfactory to ArenaCo in its sole discretion, and the costs and expenses required to remediate any hazardous materials or conditions in connection with the design and construction of the Arena Facility that ArenaCo is required to remediate as provided in ~~paragraph 15.a~~Section 16.a are reasonably acceptable to ArenaCo.

b. Financing. ArenaCo shall have obtained financing in an amount adequate to construct the Arena and upon rates, terms and conditions satisfactory to ArenaCo in its sole discretion. In connection therewith the Parties understand that ArenaCo may be required by its lenders to request an amendment to the terms hereof in order to facilitate such financing. The City and County shall consider such request, but any amendments hereto shall be (i) in the sole and absolute discretion of each of the City and the County and (ii) subject to all required approvals of each of the City and the County.

26. City and County Cooperation. The City and County may elect to apportion between themselves any of the rights or obligations described herein as rights or obligations of both the City and County, including that the City and the County may elect to apportion all of their rights and obligations to the City. At the option of the City and County, any right obtained by one of them in a contract with ArenaCo, under any of the Transaction Documents may be conferred on the other as a third-party beneficiary. As to any Key Arena issue addressed by the MOU, the Umbrella Agreement or the Transaction Documents, such agreement is only between ArenaCo and the City, and the County shall have no rights or obligations with regard to such agreement.

27. Counterparts. This MOU may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which, when taken together, will constitute one and the same instrument.

28. Dispute Resolution.

a. In the event any dispute, disagreement, claim or controversy arises between the Parties concerning this Agreement or any of the provisions hereof (each, a "Disputed Matter"), the City-County Representative and the ArenaCo Representative will meet and attempt to resolve the Disputed Matter through negotiations, except as provided in ~~Section 16.h~~Section 16.h. If the representatives are unable to reach agreement, the Disputed Matter shall be referred jointly to the City's Director of Finance and ArenaCo's chief executive officer. If such executives do not agree upon a decision, then the City's Mayor, the County Executive and ArenaCo's owners or managing members shall meet and attempt to resolve the matter. If such individuals are unable to resolve the Disputed Matter within ten (10) days, then either the City and County, collectively, or ArenaCo may, upon written notice, submit the matter to mediation.

b. Either party may commence mediation by providing to the other party a written request for mediation, setting forth the subject of the Disputed Matter and the relief

requested. The parties will cooperate with one another in selecting a mediator and in scheduling the mediation proceedings. Following compliance with the provisions of ~~paragraph 28.a, Section 28.a,~~ the parties each covenant that they will participate in the mediation in good faith, and that they will share equally in the costs of such mediation. Either party may seek equitable relief prior to the mediation to preserve the status quo pending the completion of that process. Except for such an action to obtain equitable relief, neither party may commence a civil action with respect to any Disputed Matter submitted to mediation until after the completion of the initial mediation session provided for in this ~~paragraph 28.b, Section 28.b,~~ or 45 days after the date of filing the written request for mediation, whichever occurs first. Mediation may continue after the commencement of a civil action, if the parties so desire.

29. Oral Agreements and Commitments. The Parties acknowledge that oral agreements or oral commitments to lend money, extend credit, or forbear from enforcing repayment of a debt are not enforceable under Washington law.

30. Notice Provisions. All notices provided for herein may be delivered in person, sent by Federal Express or other overnight courier service or mailed in the United States mail postage prepaid and, if mailed, shall be considered delivered three (3) business days after deposit in such mail. The addresses to be used in connection with such correspondence and notices are the following, or such other address as a Party shall from time to time direct:

City:

Copies to:

County:

Copies to:

ArenaCo:

Copies to:

Executed as of the date first written above

THE CITY OF SEATTLE
a Washington municipal corporation

By: _____
Its: _____

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON
a political subdivision of the State of Washington

By: _____
Its: _____

WSA Properties III, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company:

By: Horton Street, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Its: Manager

By: _____
Christopher Hansen
Its: Manager

EXHIBIT A

LABOR PEACE AGREEMENT

In order to protect the City of Seattle's, King County's, and the Developer's investment in the Arena from the financial risks of labor disputes, the Developer (ArenaCo) will enter into labor peace or project labor agreements with labor organizations which represent workers in King County and have indicated or may indicate their intent to organize workers at the Arena.

These organizations include but are not necessarily limited to the Seattle Building & Construction Trades Council (project construction), Unite Here Local 8 (food & beverage concessions, restaurant, and hotel employees), Teamsters Local 117 (operations employees), SEIU Local 6 (janitorial employees), and IATSE Local 15 (staging and audiovisual employees).

For construction, the project labor agreements will include a promise by the labor organizations limiting their rights during construction of the Arena to engage in concerted economic action at the Arena aimed at bringing economic pressure to bear against the Developer, including such activities as striking, picketing and boycotting.

For Arena operations, the labor peace agreements shall provide the same guarantee after opening of the facility, and shall extend to any successor or replacement contractor, sub-contractor, operator, or developer acquiring the right to develop or operate business opportunities covered by this agreement during the term of the Arena Use Agreement between ArenaCo and the City of Seattle and King County. This requirement is severable from the obligations to have such a guarantee for the construction phase.

The Developer shall maintain such labor peace or project labor agreements with such labor organizations for the duration of the proprietary interest of the City and County or other public agencies in uninterrupted revenues from the operation of the Arena which agreements will limit the rights of such union and its members to engage in economic activity against the operation.

Copies of the labor peace and project labor agreements will be submitted to the City and County promptly following the execution and delivery thereof by Developer.